
SCRUTINY : SOCIAL SERVICES
3.00 pm TUESDAY, 7TH NOVEMBER, 2017

COUNCIL CHAMBER

Please note that today’s meeting will be recorded. 
 

This recording will not be broadcast on the Authority’s internet as it will only be used for 
training purposes by the Democratic Services Department.

The Public Seating areas will be in view of the Camera and, by entering the Chamber and using 
the Public Seating Area, Members of the Public are consenting to being filmed and to the 

possible use of those images and sound recordings as outlined above.  

This Agenda has been prepared by the Democratic Services Department. Any 
member of the public requiring information should contact the department on (01685) 

725284 or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk.

Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda can be 
found on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers.

AGENDA

1. Apologies for absence 

2. Declarations of Interest (including whipping 
declarations) 
Members are reminded of their personal 
responsibility to declare any personal and 
prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 
the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 
relating to Council Tax, the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


Note:

(a) Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest and

(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting 
as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave

3. Living Well, Developing Safer Communities 
(Wellbeing Objective LW1) 
To consider the attached report 1 - 22

4. Living Well, People have good physical and 
mental health (Wellbeing Objective LW2) 
To consider the attached report 23 - 38

5. Annual Report 2016/17 for the Cwm Taf 
Safeguarding Board 
To consider the attached report 39 - 86

6. Pilot Community Zone - Update 
To consider the attached report 87 - 102

7. Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 

8. Scrutiny Referrals, Feedback and Follow up 
Actions 

9. Reflection and Evaluation of Meeting 
To receive an update from the Chair

10. Forward Work Programme 
To consider the attached report 103 - 130

11. Any other business deemed urgent by the Chair 



COMPOSITION: Councillor:  W R Smith (Chair)

Councillors: D Sammon, G Richards, T Rogers, 
I Thomas and C Tovey

Co-optees: B Lewis

Youth Forum Representative: H Symmonds

together with appropriate officers

If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre,  Castle Street

Merthyr Tydfil,  CF47 8AN

Main Tel:  01685 725000,  www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Living Well, Developing Safer Communities (Wellbeing Objective 
LW1)

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1. Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council has produced a set of wellbeing objectives.  To 
demonstrate how we intend to achieve these objectives; the Council has produced a 
Plan: 'Focus on the Future: Wellbeing in our Community'.  

1.2. The focus of this report is to outline how we will ensure we fully demonstrate the 
activities or services we deliver to support people to live in connected communities and 
feel safe where they live, work or spend their leisure time.

1.3. The Council is committed to delivering excellent Social Services and Public Protection 
services and will respond to a number of strategies and through joint working with 
partners.  This report focuses on the specific wellbeing projects that the Council will 
undertake to deliver the Council’s wellbeing objectives and contribute to the national 
wellbeing goals.

Date Written Thursday, 26 October 2017

Accountable for Delivery Lisa Curtis-Jones
Annabel Lloyd
Mark Anderton
Steve Peters

Wellbeing Champion Carys Kennedy

Committee Date Tuesday, 07 November 2017

Page 1

Agenda Item 3

http://www.merthyr.gov.uk/


1.4. There are 5 wellbeing projects currently being delivered to support the development 
of safer communities:

 Prevention of doorstep crime and scamming;
 Development of a drug litter reporting ‘app’;
 Protection of children from age-restricted products; 
 Tackling violence against women and girls;
 DIVERT 18-25 project

1.5. This report established the baseline for these projects and offers an update on 
progress made through delivery of the projects.  Further updates will be presented to 
the Scrutiny Committee at future meetings.

2.0 RECOMMENDATION

2.1 The content of this report to be discussed and noted

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 The Council is committed to delivering excellent public protection and safeguarding 
services.  It will do this by delivering its key strategies through joint working with a range 
of partners.  The key strategies that focus on delivering these services are:

 Working Together to reduce Harm
 National Strategic Assessment of Serious Organised Crime
 Cwm Taf Safeguarding Children Board Annual Plan 2017-18
 Cwm Taf Safeguarding Adult Board Annual Plan 2017-18

3.2 The following strategies are at different stages of development. When final approval has 
been granted they will be linked to the published document.

 Cwm Taf Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse & Sexual Violence Strategy

3.3 In our plan [Focus on the Future: Wellbeing in our Community], we set out how we 
intend to achieve the Wellbeing Objectives.  The purpose of this report is to coordinate 
the performance and project information against our Wellbeing Objective "Developing 
safer communities".

Page 2

http://gov.wales/dsjlg/publications/commmunitysafety/strategy/strategyen.pdf?lang=en
http://www.nationalcrimeagency.gov.uk/publications/731-national-strategic-assessment-of-serious-and-organised-crime-2016/file
http://www.cwmtafsafeguarding.org/media/1540/ctscb-annual-plan-2017-2018.pdf
http://www.cwmtafsafeguarding.org/media/1538/ctsab-annual-plan-2017-2018.pdf
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/3296/20170824-focus-on-the-future-2017-2022-en.pdf


Legislative Context
3.4 1The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 specifies that we must work to 

improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural wellbeing of Wales by 
maximising our contribution to the Wellbeing Goals.

 A prosperous Wales
 A resilient Wales
 A healthier Wales
 A more equal Wales
 A Wales of cohesive communities
 A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language
 A globally responsible Wales

3.5 We must do this in accordance with the sustainable development principle, which 
means that we act in a manner that seeks to ensure the needs of the present are met 
without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs.  There 
are 5 things that we need to do in order to show that we have applied the sustainable 
development principle.  The five things are:

 Long Term
 Preventative
 Involvement
 Collaboration
 Integrated

3.6 2The Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014 specifies that we must seek to 
improve the wellbeing of people who need care and support, carers who need support 
and for transforming social services in Wales.  The focus of this Act is on what matters 
to the person and how they can use their own strengths and resources to do those 
things, which is determined by an assessment that involves the person and the 
professional(s).

3.7 Part 7 of the SS&WB Act 2014 focuses on safeguarding of Adults and Children. The Act 
strengthens arrangements for individuals at risk which includes new and expanded 
legislation to protect children and adults, including a wider duty to report and enquire 
where there is any reasonable cause to suspect abuse and neglect. The Act also 
includes a new 'Adult Protection and Support Order' to protect an especially vulnerable 
person.

1 Read the essential guide to the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015
2 Read the essential guide to the Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014

Page 3

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2015/2/contents/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2014/4/contents
http://thewaleswewant.co.uk/sites/default/files/Guide%20to%20the%20WFGAct.pdf
http://gov.wales/docs/dhss/publications/160127socialservicesacten.pdf


4.0 WHERE WE WERE

4.1 An overview of the state of wellbeing in Cwm Taf was prepared in an assessment of 
wellbeing3, which provides background information on wellbeing in Merthyr Tydfil and 
Rhondda Cynon Taf.  In addition, a population assessment4 was prepared to provide an 
overview of care and support needs of the people of Cwm Taf and the range of services 
required to meet those needs.  The findings from the wellbeing and population 
assessment contributed to the development of the statement of wellbeing for Merthyr 
Tydfil.

Wellbeing Statement
4.2 In our wellbeing statement we set out the scope of each wellbeing objective and outline 

why we consider that meeting the objective will maximise our contribution to the 
achievement of the seven wellbeing goals.  The focus of this report is on the wellbeing 
objective:

Developing Safer Communities
People living in connected communities feel safe where they live, work or spend their 
leisure time.

4.3 Feeling safe influences how people value their community, and is important to people’s 
quality of life, often making the difference between people wanting to live and stay in 
their neighbourhood or not.  There is evidence to suggest that building confidence and 
resilience in individuals and communities is an important step towards improving 
wellbeing.  Where healthier and happier people are more likely to positively contribute to 
their communities and society.

4.4 The Cwm Taf Community Safety Partnership underwent significant change during 
2016/17. With the creation of a Community Safety Partnership (CSP), working across 
the Cwm Taf region, the streamlining organisational arrangements took place to create 
a more sustainable model. Governance and accountability has been strengthened as 
the Cwm Taf CSP Board and Cwm Taf Area Planning Board is now accountable to the 
Cwm Taf Public Services Board.

4.5 The focus of this wellbeing objective will be on the work we do to develop safer 
communities broadly, and encompass keeping our children and adults safe and free 
from harm; creating a place where people value their neighbours and community.

4.6 In Merthyr Tydfil, the council will focus on the following key components and their 
related outcomes:

3 Information on the assessment of wellbeing is published on the Cwm Taf Portal.
4 Information on the population assessment is published on the Cwm Taf Portal.

Page 4

http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/cwm-taf-well-being
http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/cwm-taf-population-assessment


 Safeguarding vulnerable children and adults who are at risk of harm;
 Tackling the harm caused by the misuse of drugs and alcohol;
 Tackling violence against women and girls;
 Offender management (young people through to adults);
 Antisocial behaviour; and 
 Community cohesion.

5.0 OUR CONTRIBUTION

Reference to Performance and Projects
(Full details for all projects and performance measures in the Appendix )

5.1 This report focuses on the specific projects that the Council will undertake to deliver our 
wellbeing objectives and contribute to the national wellbeing goals.  For "Developing 
Safer Communities" there are 5 wellbeing projects:

 Prevention of doorstep crime and scamming;
 Development of a drug litter reporting ‘app’;
 Protection of children from age-restricted projects;
 Tackling violence against women and girls;
 DIVERT 18-25 project

5.2 Key measures of performance (KPI)

5.3 We will judge how well these projects improve the wellbeing of the accessing support 
through these projects using the following key indicators.

Key Performance Indicators 2016/17
Achieved

2017/18
Target

2017/18
Actual to 

date

2018/19
Target

Percentage of re-registrations of children on 
the Local Authority Child Protection Register

21.3 %
(27/127)

N/A Not yet 
available

Percentage of adults at risk of harm or 
neglect reported more than once during the 
year (same category of abuse)

21.9 % 
(97/442)

N/A Not yet 
available

Percentage of child protection (Section 47) 
enquiries completed within required 
timescales5

32.7 % N/A Not yet 
available

Percentage of adult protection (Section 126) 
enquiries completed within statutory 
timescales

97.8 %
(156/170)

N/A Not yet 
available

5   There are no statutory timescales for Section 47 enquiries; however, Merthyr Tydfil has set a local timescale of 10 days

Page 5



Percentage of people in receipt of specialist 
domestic violence support reporting an 
improvement in quality of life

80 % 85 % 88 % 88 %

Percentage of children supported to remain 
living within their family

66.2 %
(284/429)

N/A Not yet 
available

Percentage of children looked after who have 
experienced one or more changes of school 
which were not due to transitional 
arrangements

8.16 %
(8/98)

N/A Not yet 
available

6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE

6.1 Achieving the wellbeing objective ‘Developing safer communities’ means we will see 
improvements in the following areas:

 Fewer children are re-registered on the Local Authority Child Protection Register;
 Fewer adults at risk of harm or neglect reported more than once during the year;
 More people in receipt of specialist domestic violence support report an 

improvement in quality of life;
 More children are supported to remain living in their own home; and
 Fewer children looked after experience one or more changes of school which were 

not due to transitional arrangements.

7.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW

7.1 T

he judgement is adequate at this stage as I feel projects are at an early stage in 
development in some areas.  Safeguarding children and adults is our core business and 
we closely monitor the numbers of children on the child protection register, the numbers 
of children looked after and the numbers of enquiries and investigations into child 
protection and adult protection investigations.  This data is reported through the 
safeguarding boards.

7.2 Each of the wellbeing projects are progressing well.  The main risks to the projects 
relate to funding and staffing.

7.3 A national performance indicator to monitor re-registrations on the child protection 
register was introduced last year.  The first year of data indicates that approximately 20 
percent of children were reregistered within the year.  We will review our performance in 
line with national data to identify learning within this area and preventative work that we 
can undertake.

JUDGEMENT Adequate

Page 6



7.4 The specialist support provided to victims of domestic violence is seeing positive results 
with those in receipt of support reporting an improvement in quality of life.  We will 
continue to work with our partners to develop our specialist support services.

8.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT

8.1 Through discussions it has been identified that there is a need to explore the developing 
issue of fraud on dementia victims and its impact on the health and wellbeing of 
vulnerable people.  To progress this and identify whether there is sufficient cause to 
introduce a bespoke project to address this issue, we will explore the issue further over 
the coming months to determine if there’s a need to take specific action in this area.

LISA CURTIS-JONES
CHIEF OFFICER (SOCIAL SERVICES)

COUNCILLOR DAVID HUGHES
CABINET MEMBER FOR 

SOCIAL SERVICES 
EVIDENCE
Title of Document(s)

 Statement of Wellbeing
 Focus on the Future: Wellbeing in our Community

Does the report contain any issues that may 
affect the Council’s Constitution? NO

Page 7

https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/3299/20170824-statement-of-wellbeing-v2-en.pdf
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/3296/20170824-focus-on-the-future-2017-2022-en.pdf


APPENDIX 1

WELLBEING PROJECT 1/2:  Prevention of Doorstep Crime and Scams & Protection 
of Children from Age-Restricted Products

Project Information

Project Title Prevention of Doorstep Crimes and Scams; and
Protection of children from Age-Restricted Products

Project Manager Paul Lewis

Report Period From 01/04/2017 Report Period To 30/09/2017

Accountable for Delivery Steve Peters

Services Trading Standards

Wellbeing Objective Developing Safer Communities

Component(s) Safeguarding vulnerable children and adults who are at risk of harm

Project Description As the focus of this objective is the work we do to develop safer 
communities broadly; these dual projects encompass keeping our adults, 
children and young people safe and free from harm.

The Prevention of Doorstep Crime and Scams project focuses on 
Operation Signature, a campaign to identify and support vulnerable 
victims of fraud.  This activity takes a joint approach to tackling Doorstep 
Crime with Trading Standards working closely with South Wales Police.  

The Protection of Children from Age-Restricted Products project is a 
project seeking to prevent the sale of alcohol and other age restricted 
products by focusing on the use of fake ID.  The project will undertake an 
initial survey of retailers to identify whether they were correctly 
assessing and understanding how to identify fake ID.  In cases 
where this does not appear to be happening, follow up visits will be 
undertaken to discuss findings of survey.

Expected Benefits Prevention of Doorstep Crime and Scams
 Robust and pro-active enforcement against perpetrators of crime.
 Self-empower consumers to avoid becoming victims of crime.
Protection of Children from Age-Restricted Products
 Safeguarding of children health and life experiences from goods and 

services that affect their health and lifestyles.

Rationale for the Project We define safer communities from a social perspective as communities 
that are free from crime, victims of crime or those living in fear of crime. 
There is evidence to suggest that building confidence and resilience in 
individuals and communities is an important step towards improving 
wellbeing.  Healthier and happier people are more likely to positively 
contribute to their communities and society.  

Page 8



Prevention of Doorstep Crime and Scams
The project selected is based on evidence that shows us that, 
increasingly, fraud is becoming more complex deceptive and that much of 
this fraud is targeted at vulnerable and elderly people.

Protection of Children from Age-Restricted Products
As a result of the adverse effects they can have on health and well-being, 
the supply of a wide range of products to young people is prohibited. 
These goods are often called age-restricted products, and the term 
‘under-age sales’ is commonly used to describe their illegal supply to 
young persons.

A recent all-Wales survey suggests that illegal sales are increasing, with 
30% of retailers visited selling alcohol to children, 22% selling cigarettes 
and 6% selling fireworks.  Apart from the legal consequences for the 
retailer, underage sales can have a real effect on the health of the 
nation’s children.

Start Date 03/04/2017

Finish Date 30 March 2018

Highlight Report Author Paul Lewis

Key Actions

Prevention of Doorstep Crime and Scams

To progress this project, the following key actions have been undertaken:

 A joint Memorandum Of Understanding has now been signed with South Wales Police;

 Promotion of Merthyr Tydfil as a “No Cold Calling” Authority by working with South Wales Police 
and the South Wales Police & Crime Commissioner on projects and educational material has been 
undertaken; and 

 Rapid reaction details have been provided of officers from both Merthyr Tydfil Trading Standards 
and South Wales Police.

Protection of Children from Age-Restricted Products

To progress this project, the following key actions have been undertaken:

 An initial survey undertaken indicated that retailers were not correctly assessing and understanding 
how to identify fake ID; and

 32 follow up visits have been completed to discuss findings of survey.

Page 9



Progress since last highlight report

Not applicable – this is the first Highlight Report to be produced.

Targets for the next period

Prevention of Doorstep Crime and Scams

 Meetings with South Wales Police to access data held by Action Fraud on scam victims and 
possible intervention and protection measures;

 Improve localised intelligence sharing with BCU local and regional intelligence officers; and
 Begin rogue trader patrols with key partners.

Protection of Children from Age-Restricted Products

 Exploring further funding bid to produce dedicated retailer guidance on types of fake ID along with 
staff training materials; and

 Explore funding opportunity for follow up test purchase exercise to ascertain if intervention has been 
successful.

Project Risks

Assessment of
Risk

Risk
No.

Risk
Description

I L S

Impact on 
Delivery/Benefits

Decision or 
action 
required

Responsible 
person for 
action

Date for 
decision or 
action

1 Staff Resources – Service has 
already been subjected to 39% 
reduction in budget. Reduced 
resources could impact on 
delivery of statutory services.

4 3 12 Small service and 
loss of additional 
post could impact 
service delivery.

Re-profile of 
Trading 
Standards 
priority 
areas with 
potential 
restructure.

Steve 
Peters/ Alyn 
Owen

January 
2018

Project Issues

Assessment of
Risk

Risk
No.

Risk
Description

I L S

Impact on 
Delivery/Benefits

Decision or 
action 
required

Responsible 
person for 
action

Date for 
decision or 
action

1 Staff resources. Doorstep Crime 
lead has retired due to ill health 
leaving gap of knowledge.

4 4 16 Project requires 
knowledge of 
project and 
necessary skills.

Nominate 
officer to 
lead role 
and upskill

Paul Lewis December 
2017.

2 Efficiency agenda. Failure to 
replace post loss to ill health.

4 4 16 Small service and 
loss of additional 
post could impact 
service delivery.

If efficiency 
to be made 
re-profile of 
Trading 
Standards 
priority 

Steve 
Peters/Alyn 
Owen

January 
2018

Page 10



areas with 
potential 
restructure.

3 External funding not secured 4 2 8 Further phases 
require additional 
funding to produce 
materials and cover 
staff resources.

Funding bid 
to be 
followed up 
with Area 
Planning 
Board.

Steve 
Peters/Paul 
Lewis

November 
2017

Page 11



WELLBEING PROJECT 3:  Development of Drug Litter Reporting ‘App’

Project Information

Project Title Development of Drug Litter Reporting ‘App’

Project Manager Julian Pike

Report Period From 01/04/2017 Report Period To 30/09/2017

Accountable for Delivery Steve Peters

Services Community Safety, Waste Management

Wellbeing Objective Developing Safer Communities

Component(s) Tackling the harm caused by the misuse of drugs and alcohol

Project Description Welsh Government has funded the development of an app called 
FlymapperTM to report and record instances of fly tipping within our 
communities.  We are seeking to enhance this app to allow the reporting 
of drug litter.

The aim is to use FlymapperTM to accurately establish the scale of the 
problem so decision makers at PSB level can challenge current practice 
and develop appropriate responses.

Expected Benefits  Improve the reporting of drug litter to the Council enabling staff/the 
public to report drug litter, thereby improving the council’s response to 
this issue; 

 Improve intelligence on drug use locations;
 Improve the response of other affected agencies;
 Better understand the scope of the problem;
 Generate intelligence to challenge policy and practice.

Rationale for the Project Pharmacies within Merthyr Tydfil distribute needle packs for the safe 
injection of intravenous substances, such as heroin.  The purpose is to 
reduce the risk of blood borne viruses among users.  However, a 
consequence is the inappropriate disposal of used and unused needles 
and works.  These items present a dangerous risk to public health and 
detract from community spaces which this project seeks to address.

Start Date 03/04/2017

Finish Date 30 March 2018

Highlight Report Author Julian Pike

Page 12



Key Actions

 Work with Flymapper to extend the existing app function to secure data specifically around the 
unsafe discarding of drug litter;

 Prioritise the safe collection and destruction of reported drug litter; and
 Publicise the completed ‘app’ and clearly outline how instances can be reported.

Progress since last highlight report

Not applicable – this is the first Highlight Report to be produced.

Targets for the next period

 Continue to work with Flymapper to extend the existing app function to secure data 
specifically around the unsafe discarding of drug litter;

 Publicise the completed ‘app’ and clearly outline how instances can be reported; and
 Prioritise the safe collection and destruction of reported drug litter.

Project Risks

Assessment of
Risk

Risk
No.

Risk
Description

I L S

Impact on 
Delivery/Benefits

Decision or 
action required

Responsible 
person for 
action

Date for 
decision or 
action

1. Annual funding longevity. 
Cost is approx. £5000 a year.

5 2 10 Will not be able 
to use database 
at all.

Will APB fund 
and guarantee 
a period

SP/JP March 2018

2. Embedding use of database into 
daily routine of various staff & 
departments.

5 1 5 Without certain 
frontline staff 
using the 
application in 
their daily duties 
it would be of no 
use

Make it 
mandatory in 
street 
cleansing and 
any other 
departments

SP/AO March 2018

Project Issues

Assessment of 
Issue

Issue
No.

Issue
Description

I L S

Impact on 
Delivery/Benefits

Decision or 
action required

Responsible 
person for 
action

Date for 
decision 
or action

1. Fly Mapper is owned by Fly 
Tipping Action Wales and primary 
purpose is not drug litter. We 
have now agreed to clone 
database and tailor to community 
safety needs. 

2 3 6 Delayed 
implementing the 
project.

RE/JP met with 
developer 
directly to cost a 
cloned 
database for 
community 
safety issues 
specifically.

RE/JP March 
2018

Page 13



WELLBEING PROJECT 4:  Domestic Abuse Support Services

Project Information

Project Title Tackling Violence Against Women and Girls

Project Manager Julie Beck

Report Period From 01/04/2017 Report Period To 30/09/2017

Authority’s Role Commissioning Organisation

Accountable for Delivery Steve Peters and Nicola Mahoney

Services Trading Standards

Wellbeing Objective Developing Safer Communities

Component(s) Tackling violence against women and girls

Project Description Delivered over 3 key project strands, domestic abuse services provide 
specialist emotional and practical support to families and individuals who 
have or are experiencing domestic abuse with the aim of increasing 
safety, reducing harm and improving life chances.

Expected Benefits Beneficiaries outcomes include:
 Feeling safer
 Improved wellbeing and quality of life
 Reduced anxiety
 Increased knowledge and confidence in accessing services
 Increased understanding of healthy/unhealthy relationships
 Improved parent/child attachment and family relationships

Rationale for the Project We define safer communities from a social perspective as communities 
that are free from crime, victims of crime or those living in fear of crime. 
There is evidence to suggest that building confidence and resilience in 
individuals and communities is an important step towards improving 
wellbeing.  Healthier and happier people are more likely to positively 
contribute to their communities and society.  

Start Date 03/04/2017

Finish Date 30 March 2018

Highlight Report Author Julie Beck and Steve Peters

Page 14



Key Actions

Domestic Abuse support services are delivered across 3 key strands:

Domestic Abuse Resource Team

In order to tackle violence against women and domestic abuse, we will:

 Offer confidential, practical and emotional support to victims of domestic abuse 16 years+
 Allocate a specific support worker to assist those affected by domestic abuse to access information 

and advocacy support in order to make positive changes
 Provide a volunteer mentor to join the victim on their journey to recovery

Comets & Rockets

In order to support children and young people 3-15 years in Merthyr Tydfil who have experienced 
and/or witnessed domestic abuse, we will offer:

 Group sessions for parents to enable greater understanding of the effects of domestic abuse 
on their child(ren)

 One to one sessions tailored to the age and needs of the child.
 Family Therapy sessions to equip the parent in the use of therapeutic tools at home

Crea8

In order to support young people 11-25 years in Merthyr Tydfil who have experienced and/or witnessed 
domestic abuse, we will:

 Provide 1-1 sessions with the young person tailored to individual need
 Deliver group programmes including STAR (Safety Trust and Respect) and Children & 

Young People’s Recovery Toolkit
 Provide group sessions within local comprehensive schools, youth clubs and alternative 

educational provision to examine issues including:

- Healthy and unhealthy relationships;
- The cycle of abuse;
- Media influences around domestic abuse; and
- Challenging opinions and stereotypes.

Project Performance

Local indicator
Safer Merthyr Tydfil

Percentage of people in receipt of specialist domestic violence support reporting 
an improvement in quality of life

Annual Performance Data Annual Target

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2017/18

MT - - 89% 80% 90% 85%

Page 15



Local indicator
Safer Merthyr Tydfil 

Percentage of people in receipt of specialist domestic violence support reporting 
an improvement in quality of life

Quarterly Performance Data Annual Target

Cohort 2016/17 Qtr. 1 Qtr. 2 Qtr. 3 Qtr. 4 2017/18 2017/18

MT 80% 87% 88%

Progress since last highlight report

Not applicable – this is the first Highlight Report to be produced.

Targets for the next period

 Continue to offer confidential, practical and emotional support to victims of domestic abuse 16 
years+;

 Continue to deliver group sessions for parents to enable greater understanding of the effects of 
domestic abuse on their child(ren);

 Continue to deliver one to one sessions tailored to the age and needs of the child;

 Continue to provide one to one sessions with the young person tailored to individual need; and

 Deliver group programmes including STAR (Safety Trust and Respect) and Children & Young 
People’s Recovery Toolkit

Project Risks

Identify the risks from the latest Risk Register.  

Assessment of
Risk

Risk
No.

Risk
Description

I L S

Impact on 
Delivery/Benefits

Decision or 
action 
required

Responsible 
person for 
action

Date for 
decision or 
action

1 Failure to secure continuation 
funding to sustain delivery of 
the projects

5 3 15 Loss of funding 
leading to an 
inability to continue 
delivering any of 
the support 
services

A significant 
reduction in support 
available to victims 
and those affected 
by domestic abuse 

Continue to 
research 
opportunitie
s for 
continuation 
funding 

Safer 
Merthyr 
Tydfil &
Steve 
Peters

Ongoing

Page 16



Comets & Rockets is entering year 3 (the final year) of funding which is due to end July 2018.  
It is our intention to submit a further application to BBC Children In Need; however, we have 
already had 2 funding rounds with this funder and competition for the funding has substantially 
increased. 

Project Issues

No issues have been noted linked to this project at this time

Page 17



WELLBEING PROJECT 4:  18-25 DIVERT

Project Information

Project Title 18-25 DIVERT

Project Manager Gary Black (RCTCBC  - as this is a regional pilot project) 
Julian Pike (MTCBC - provides some limited oversight).

Report Period From 01/04/2017 Report Period To 30/09/2017

Authority’s Role Contributing Partner

Accountable for Delivery Steve Peters 

Services Cwm Taf Youth Offending Service

Wellbeing Objective Developing Safer Communities

Component(s) Offender management (young people through to adults)

Project Description Funded by the Police & Crime Commissioner’s Office, the DIVERT 18-25 
project team based within RCTCBC, provide discretionary opportunities 
for 18-25 year old first time offenders to opt for this program of 
intervention, instead of entering the criminal justice system. Upon arrest, 
SWP will advise them of this option (for low level crimes only and subject 
to the offender meeting the age criteria). If the subject opts for this 
intervention program - participants engage in restorative interventions 
(where appropriate) and are placed on a 1-day interactive educational 
workshop which focuses on the consequences of crime, consequential 
thinking, victim empathy, emotion management and drug and alcohol 
awareness. 

The programme aims to reduce the likelihood of participants re-offending 
and participants completing all aspects of the programme receive an out 
of court disposal (Adult Community Resolution) and do not receive a 
criminal record. Thereby not affecting the persons’ employment, training 
or educational ambitions.

Expected Benefits  A reduction in the number of young adults re-offending following 
involvement with the project

 Reduction in persons’ career prospects being blighted by an isolated 
low level criminal offence

 Restorative Justice – victims of the crime are contacted to seek their 
views on the intervention for the offender

Page 18



Rationale for the Project Reducing Offending and Re-Offending among the 18-25 age group is a 
key priority for the South Wales Police and Crime Commissioner. It is 
widely acknowledged that people in this age group are committing a 
disproportionate amount of recorded crime, whereas re-offending has 
fallen dramatically in the under 18 age group. 

This project will therefore seek to build upon the successful model utilised 
across South Wales within the Youth Offending Services, where holistic 
intervention is embedded into practice.

Start Date 01/04/2015

Finish Date 31 March 2018

Highlight Report Author Gary Black & Julian Pike

Key Actions

In order to support the reduction in the number of first time entrants to the criminal justice system re-
offending, the local authority will:

 Work with partners to tackle anti-social behaviour;

 Continue to engage with youths and young adults to promote positive lifestyle choices; and

 Continue to provide education and training to young persons as a positive focus.

Project Performance

Local indicator Percentage of 18-25 DIVERT participants who have not re-offended 6 months 
after completion of the project

Quarterly Performance Data Annual Target

Cohort 2016/17 Qtr. 1 Qtr. 2 Qtr. 3 Qtr. 4 2017/18 2017/18

MT 100% 100% 96% 100% 100%

A Quarter 2 analysis report has recently been pulled together which outlines the current position re: the 
18-25 DIVERT project along with the key outcomes achieved as a result of delivery of the project.  You 
can find more details of this report here.

Progress since last highlight report

Not applicable – this is the first Highlight Report to be produced.

Page 19

file:///Q:/Public%20Protection,%20Housing%20&%20Community%20Safety/DIVERT%2018-25%20Qtr%202%20analysis%20report%20(G%20Black%20Oct%2017).docx


Targets for the next period

 Continue to engage with youths and young adults to promote positive lifestyle choices; 

 Continue to provide education and training to young persons as a positive focus; and

 Continue to work with partners to tackle anti-social behaviour.

Project Risks

Identify the risks from the latest Risk Register.  

Assessment of
Risk

Risk
No.

Risk
Description

I L S

Impact on 
Delivery/Benefits

Decision or action 
required

Responsible 
person for 
action

Date for 
decision or 
action

1 Loss of Funding. Funding 
is allocated on an annual 
basis (April to April)

5 1 5 All staff on the 
programme are 
funded by the PCC 
Office

Contact PCC 
Office to enquire 
about further 
funding

Gary Black ASAP.
Gary Black 
has made 
contact but 
no decision 
by the PCC 
Office can 
be made at 
this time

2 Loss of skilled staff 5 2 10 There are currently 
two dedicated 
project staff. A 
reduction would 
result in a drop in 
performance and 
reduced support for 
clients 

Other staff within 
the Community 
Safety Department 
to be 
knowledgeable of 
the project in order 
to provide 
resilience.  

Gary Black Completed

Project Issues

No issues have been identified linked to the project at this time.

Page 20



APPENDIX II

Safeguard vulnerable children and adults who are at risk of harm

SOURCE Percentage of adults at risk of abuse or neglect reported more than once during 
the year6 

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2017/18

MT
If relates to 

different category 
of abuse

N/A
(New) N/A N/A 21% 

(94/442)

SOURCE Percentage of schools who meet expected safeguarding standards

Quarterly Performance Data Annual Target

Cohort 2016/17 Qtr. 1 Qtr. 2 Qtr. 3 Qtr. 4 2017/18 2017/18

MT New for 
2017/18 100% 100%

SOURCE Percentage of looked after children returned home from care during the year7

Quarterly Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2016/17 Qtr. 1 Qtr. 2 Qtr. 3 Qtr. 4 2017/18 2017/18

MT 18.27%
(34/186) N/A N/A

SOURCE Percentage of school transport attendant compliance monitoring checks that are 
passed  **  NEW LOCAL PERFORMANCE INDICATOR FOR 2017-18  **

Quarterly Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2016/17 Qtr. 1 Qtr. 2 Qtr. 3 Qtr. 4 2017/18 2017/18

MT New for 
2017/18 97%

No checks 
during this 

period

6  This is a regional performance indicator introduced in 2016/17
7  This performance indicator was introduced in 2016/17 so there is no historical data

Page 21



SOURCE
Trading Standards Manager

Percentage of taxi licensing compliance spot checks that are passed
**  NEW LOCAL PERFORMANCE INDICATOR FOR 2017-18  **

Quarterly Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2016/17 Qtr. 1 Qtr. 2 Qtr. 3 Qtr. 4 2017/18 2017/18

MT New for 
2017/18 97% 74% - -

Tackling the harm caused by the misuse of drugs and alcohol

SOURCE
Trading Standards 

Percentage of licensed premises checks where the management of risk to meet 
the licensing objectives was found to be broadly compliant

Quarterly Performance Data Annual Target

Cohort 2016/17 Qtr. 1 Qtr. 2 Qtr. 3 Qtr. 4 2017/18 2017/18

MT New for 
2017/18 90% 83%

Tackling violence against women and girls

Local indicator
Safer Merthyr Tydfil

Percentage of people in receipt of specialist domestic violence support reporting 
feeling safer

Annual Performance Data Annual Target

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2017/18

MT - - 98.8% 89% 86% 85%

Local indicator
Safer Merthyr Tydfil 

Percentage of people in receipt of specialist domestic violence support reporting 
feeling safer

Quarterly Performance Data Annual Target

Cohort 2016/17 Qtr. 1 Qtr. 2 Qtr. 3 Qtr. 4 2017/18 2017/18

MT 85% 86% 87% 86% 85%

Page 22



Civic Centre,  Castle Street

Merthyr Tydfil,  CF47 8AN

Main Tel:  01685 725000,  www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Living Well, People have good physical and mental health 
(Wellbeing Objective LW2)

Date Written Thursday, 26 October 2017

Accountable for Delivery Lisa Curtis-Jones
Mark Thomas
Annabel Lloyd
Mark Anderton
Chris Hole

Wellbeing Champion Judith Jones

Committee Date Tuesday, 07 November 2017

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1. This report focuses on the specific projects that the Council will undertake to deliver 
our wellbeing objectives and contribute to the national wellbeing goals.  There is one 
wellbeing project, Active Merthyr, which has six distinct delivery strands.

1.2. The six distinct delivery strands of the Active Merthyr project contribute to healthy 
behaviours and increasing physical activity key components.  However, we need to 
challenge what contribution the Council can make towards mental health and tackling 
adverse childhood experiences.

1.3. The Council expects the Leisure Trust to make a significant contribution to this 
wellbeing objective; however, the Leisure Trust business plan needs to be updated to 
ensure that it aligns its operational activity to the Council's wellbeing objectives and 
improves service delivery.

Page 23

Agenda Item 4

http://www.merthyr.gov.uk/


3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 The Council is committed to delivering excellent services.  It will do this by delivering its 
key strategies and through joint working with a range of partners.  The key strategies 
that focus on delivering excellent services are:

 1Active Merthyr Plan 2017/18
 1Leisure Trust: Free Swim Plan 2017/18

3.2 The following strategies are at different stages of development.  When final approval 
has been granted they will be linked to the published document.

 Tackling Poverty Strategy
 Leisure Trust  Business Plan

3.3 In our plan [Focus on the Future: Wellbeing in our Community], we set out how we 
intend to achieve the Wellbeing Objectives.  The purpose of this report is to coordinate 
the performance and project information against our Wellbeing Objective "people have 
good physical and mental health".

Legislative Context
3.4 2The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 specifies that we must work to 

improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural wellbeing of Wales by 
maximising our contribution to the Wellbeing Goals.

 A prosperous Wales
 A resilient Wales
 A healthier Wales
 A more equal Wales
 A Wales of cohesive communities
 A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language
 A globally responsible Wales

3.5 We must do this in accordance with the sustainable development principle, which 
means that we act in a manner that seeks to ensure the needs of the present are met 

1 The reports are not published on the Council's website
2 Read the essential guide to the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015

2.0 RECOMMENDATION

2.1 The content of this report to be discussed and noted.

Page 24

https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/3296/20170824-focus-on-the-future-2017-2022-en.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2015/2/contents/enacted
http://thewaleswewant.co.uk/sites/default/files/Guide%20to%20the%20WFGAct.pdf


without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs.  There 
are 5 things that we need to do in order to show that we have applied the sustainable 
development principle.  The five things are:

 Long Term
 Preventative
 Involvement
 Collaboration
 Integrated

3.6 3The Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014 specifies that we must seek to 
improve the wellbeing of people who need care and support, carers who need support 
and for transforming social services in Wales.  The focus of this Act is on what matters 
to the person and how they can use their own strengths and resources to do those 
things, which is determined by an assessment that involves the person and the 
professional(s).

4.0 WHERE WE WERE

4.1 An overview of the state of wellbeing in Cwm Taf was prepared in an assessment of 
wellbeing4, which provides background information on wellbeing in Merthyr Tydfil and 
Rhondda Cynon Taf.  In addition, a population assessment5 was prepared to provide an 
overview of care and support needs of the people of Cwm Taf and the range of services 
required to meet those needs.  The findings from the wellbeing and population 
assessment contributed to the development of the statement of wellbeing for Merthyr 
Tydfil.

Wellbeing Statement
4.2 In our wellbeing statement we set out the scope of each wellbeing objective and outline 

why we consider that meeting the objective will maximise our contribution to the 
achievement of the seven wellbeing goals.  The focus of this report is on the wellbeing 
objective:

People have good physical and mental health

People, adopting healthy behaviours earlier in life, are healthier feel good and function 
well.

4.3 There are many predictors of wellbeing and this objective focuses on two of them: 
physical health and mental health.  The link between physical health and mental health 

3 Read the essential guide to the Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014
4 Information on the assessment of wellbeing is published on the Cwm Taf Portal.
5 Information on the population assessment is published on the Cwm Taf Portal.

Page 25

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2014/4/contents
http://gov.wales/docs/dhss/publications/160127socialservicesacten.pdf
http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/cwm-taf-well-being
http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/cwm-taf-population-assessment


is unquestionable, poor physical health can lead to poor mental health and the other 
way round.

4.4 In Merthyr Tydfil, we will focus on the following components and their related outcomes 
to achieve our wellbeing objective:

 Promoting healthy behaviours from a young age
 Tackling adverse childhood experiences6

 Increasing levels of physical activity

5.0 OUR CONTRIBUTION

5.1 This report focuses on the specific projects that the Council will undertake to deliver our 
wellbeing objectives and contribute to the national wellbeing goals.  For "people have 
good physical and mental health" there is one wellbeing project:

 Active Merthyr Plan
Bump fit & Run Buggy Run
Physical Literacy
MGirls
Leadership in Sport
Insport Gold
Club Support

5.2 In development are two further wellbeing projects:

 Attachment and ACEs
Investment in Attachment and ACEs Programme
Investment in Parenting Support

 Life Journey

Key measures of performance (KPI)
5.3 We will judge how well this project improves the wellbeing of participants using the 

following key indicators.

KPI 1 The number of visits to local authority sport and leisure facilities during the year 
per 1,000 population where the visitor will be participating in physical activity

Quarterly Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

View Data 2016/17 Qtr. 1 Qtr. 2 Qtr. 3 Qtr. 4 2017/18 2017/18 2016/17

MT 8,137 13 

Wales 8,387

6 Information on what are Adverse Childhood Experiences from Public Health Wales.

Page 26

http://www.infobasecymru.net/IAS/themes/communities,equalitiesandlocalgovernment/localauthorityperformance/leisureandculture/tabular?viewId=1778&geoId=1&subsetId=
http://www.cph.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/01/ACE-Report-FINAL-E.pdf


KPI 2 The percentage of children who achieve the Swim Wales National Curriculum 
Test (Key Stage 2)

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

View Data 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2017/18

MT 77.2 72.0 79.0 71.0 81.0

Wales 74.0 73.0 75.0 - 7

KPI 3 Wellbeing score of participants in Active Merthyr projects

Wellbeing Score WELLBEING COMPONENTS

EVENTS COUNT SCORE Good 
Feeling

Meaning & 
Purpose

Good 
Relation-

ships

Active Merthyr 8 188 3.37 ~ 3.34 3.35 3.56

5.4 Additional performance measures will be developed as part of the programme on 
attachment, which will impact upon the ACEs agenda.

6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE

6.1 By monitoring key performance indicators and the outcomes of the projects we are 
delivering, we will know things are better when:

 More people visit our sport and leisure facilities and participate in physical activity
 Pupil participation in sport and physical activity improves
 Active Merthyr project participants report an improvement to their wellbeing

6.2 Attachment disorders are common place amongst clients engaging with social services 
and are closely linked with the ACEs agenda.  Therefore in the long term subject to a 
successful piloting of the programme we would be seeking for the programme to 
contribute to a reduction in the number of families requiring specialist services or 
significant engagement with family support services provided through Families First.

7.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW

7.1 The Active Merthyr project is progressing well with all elements the project achieving 
their output targets with the exception of Bump Fit.  In three elements the output targets 
have been exceeded and there is an improvement in the subjective wellbeing scores of 
participants.

7 No published data for March 2017 

Page 27

http://www.freeswimmingwales.net/IAS/explorer/resources/


7.2 In addition, we are presented with a number of key issues.  One key issue is the steady 
and continuous decline in the number of visits to local authority sport and leisure 
centres where the visitor participates in physical activity.  The decline has continued for 
five years and shows no signs of change.  We are now ranked 13th in Wales. The main 
contribution to this measure comes from the Leisure Trust who operates the local 
authority sport and leisure centres, with minor contributions from the Councils Parks 
department, Merthyr Town Football Club, Dowlais Engine House and Active Merthyr 
Tydfil’s school programs.

7.3 The Council expects the Leisure Trust to make a significant contribution to this 
wellbeing objective. The Leisure Trust business plan needs to be updated to ensure that 
it aligns its operational activity to the Council's wellbeing objectives and improves 
service delivery.

7.4 Families First has concluded a review of the current funding and is in the process of 
agreeing its approach to future commissioning of services.  The integration of services 
across both Flying Start and Families First provides the opportunity for a more inclusive 
approach.  However this approach will be constrained by the funding available, 
therefore more needs to be achieved by existing services in relation to what they will do 
differently to address the Aces agenda.  Welsh Government  are introducing a Funding 
Flexibility approach for 2018/19 across a range of grant funding which may enable  the 
reconsideration of priorities across a number of grant funding streams.  

7.5 In reference to mental health, there is a Cwm Taf Mental health Partnership, which 
oversees the Welsh Government's ‘Together for Mental health’ Strategy.  The 
populations Needs Assessment completed within Cwm Taf highlighted that a universal 
population approach is needed to build mental well-being across the whole population, 
with the need for greater prevention and early intervention targeted services.  There are 
no specific projects to report on at this time as work is ongoing, but as a result of the 
work undertaken by all members in the partnership during the course of 2017 the 
priorities for 2018/19 have been agreed. These are as follows:

 Developing the 10 year strategy for adult mental health services across Cwm 
Taf
Key areas to include: transition between services; crisis and assessment; co 
occurring mental health and substance misuse agenda; access to housing; 
addressing loneliness and isolation; access to meaningful daytime activities; suicide 
prevention (see also below)

 Creating a children’s and young people’s mental health / wellbeing strategy
Key areas to include: transition to adult services; crisis support; early intervention 
and preventative services; behavioural interventions; fit to ACE (Adverse Childhood 
Experiences) agenda

Page 28



 Creating a Cwm Taf Dementia strategy
Key areas to include: responses to the national dementia strategy key priorities; 
tackling loneliness and isolation; Valley LIFE project proposal and scope

 Talk to Me 2: Suicide Prevention
Developing a Cwm Taf regional multi-agency response to the national plan led by 
the third sector

 Reviewing assessment pathways and accessing support in a crisis

8.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT

8.1 In our plan (Focus on the Future) we identify the key areas we should focus on in order 
to address gaps in our current response to this wellbeing objective.  These are:

 Develop the attachment offer to parents which will contribute to the  tackling of 
adverse childhood experiences

 Work with existing partners across Families First and Flying Start to embed ACEs 
approaches into the everyday practice of Health Visitors, Family Support workers

 What we can do to support people have good mental health
 What the Leisure Trust can do to promote healthy behaviours
 What the Leisure Trust can do to increase levels of physical activity

8.2 Families First and Flying Start are jointly developing a programme on strengthening 
attachment which will be piloted and evaluated in 2018 as part of the delivery approach 
within the Gurnos (Community Zone). The Families First and Flying Start frameworks 
present a significant opportunity to commission services which are focused on 
improving outcomes for children and families. Positively impacting on the Adverse 
Childhood Experiences (ACEs) agenda to positively affect a child's experiences the 
environment in which they live and the wider health and wellbeing of children as they 
grow.

LISA CURTIS-JONES
CHIEF OFFICER (SOCIAL SERVICES)

COUNCILLOR DAVID HUGHES
CABINET MEMBER FOR SOCIAL 

SERVICES
EVIDENCE
Title of Document(s)

 Statement of Wellbeing
 Focus on the Future: Wellbeing in our Community
 Strategy on a Page: People have good physical and mental health
 Leisure Trust: Free Swim Plan 2017/18

Does the report contain any issues that may 
affect the Council’s Constitution? NO

Page 29

https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/3299/20170824-statement-of-wellbeing-v2-en.pdf
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/3296/20170824-focus-on-the-future-2017-2022-en.pdf


APPENDIX

Project Title Active Merthyr Plan

Project Manager John Sellwood

Report Period From 01 April 2017 Report Period To 30 September 2017

Accountable for Delivery Mark Thomas

Services Corporate Services, Sports Development Team

Wellbeing Objective People have good physical and mental health

Component(s)  Promoting healthy behaviours from a young age
 Increasing levels of physical activity

Project Description The purpose of the Active Merthyr Plan is to encourage different groups 
of people to engage in physical activity on a regular basis.  To achieve 
this, the plan focuses on providing the right type of physical activities, in 
the right places and at the right times.  The project has six distinct 
delivery strands:

1. Physical activity for pre and post-natal mothers
Working with health professionals to encourage mums-to-be and new 
mums to be physically active

2. Physical Literacy
Working with teachers in early years education to develop a delivery 
resource in order to improve the quality of the physical activity 
lessons they deliver to pupils

3. MGirls
Working with schools to target female participation in order to close 
the gender gap in physical activity

4. Leadership in Sport
Work with pupils in schools and the college to increase their 
confidence and motivation to take part in physical activity

5. Insport Gold
Collaborating with Disability Sports Wales and other local authorities 
working to achieve the Gold standard

6. Club Support
Working with local organisations and clubs to develop the capacity, 
governance and sustainability

Page 30



Expected Benefits  Improve the wellbeing of mums
 Increase physical activity rates of mums
 Increase the frequency of participation in physical activity 
 Upskilled teachers delivering engaging extracurricular sport and 

physical activity sessions
 Improve children and young people's fundamental movement skills, 

confidence and motivation

Measureable Benefits  Wellbeing score of participants in Active Merthyr projects

Rationale for the Project  In pregnancy, low levels of physical activity can contribute to a range 
of health problems.  Moderate or gentle exercise during pregnancy 
can have many benefits for the mother and the developing baby.  
Physical activity during the postpartum period is also beneficial.

 Levels of physical activity are generally lower among women than 
men. Within women those living in in the most deprived areas are less 
likely to be active (Welsh Health Survey).  In Merthyr Tydfil women 
are the least active in Wales (Active Adults Survey 2014).

 Physically active young people more readily adopt other healthy 
behaviours and demonstrate higher academic performance at school.  
Across schools in Merthyr Tydfil physical activity participation varies 
between and within schools.  Whilst participation of girls in physical 
activity has increased (School Sport Survey 2015) it remains lower 
than for boys.

 25% of secondary school children in the County Borough stated they 
were not very confident or not confident at all to trying new activities 
without worrying, and 12% of primary school children in the County 
Borough stated they were Not very confident or Not confident at all to 
trying new activities without worrying.

 To support a generational change that underpinning the work of the 
Council and partners that puts disabled people at the heart of 
planning and decision making process, to enables them to access 
opportunities in the environment and at a level of choose.

 Four out of five disabled people are currently not active, but seven in 
ten want to increase the amount of physical activity they take part in.  
This highlights a latent demand for more opportunities and ways to 
enjoy being active (English Federation of Disability Sport).

 Club growth in Wales is vital to achieve growth in participation rates.  
Males are more likely to be members of a sports club than females 
and membership declines for both genders with age (School sports 
Survey, Active Adult Survey).

Start Date 01 April 2017

Finish Date 31 March 2018

Highlight Report Author John Sellwood

Page 31



(a) Project Information

1. Physical activity for pre and post-natal mothers

Bump fit
Bump fit is a pre-natal intervention that encourages expectant mums to physical active 
during pregnancy.  The program supports the mothers to continue the activity after the birth 
and to be a positive role model and advocate physical activity with the child.

Key Actions:
 Promote and market Bump fit
 Deliver two 10 week blocks of suitable physical activity beginning in November 2017

a. Antenatal aquacise, and
b. Light fitness

 Measure the subjective wellbeing of participants at the beginning and end of the 10 
weeks

 Evaluate the impact of the project

Run Buggy Run
Buggy running is a post-natal project that encourages mothers to get back into running or 
start running.  Expert running leaders guide the sessions, and provide any coaching advice. 
Suitable running buggies are available to hire if needed.  The project provides the 
opportunity for new mums and their babies to get together and be physically active in the 
beautiful surroundings of the Taf Trail in Cefn.

Key Actions:
 Commission a pilot buggy running project with one session a week for ten weeks
 Promote and market Run Buggy Run
 Measure the subjective wellbeing of participants at the beginning and end of the 10 

weeks 
 Evaluate the impact of the project

2. Physical Literacy
Physical Literacy is a journey through life equally important as reading or writing.  
Becoming physically literate means that children will take part in sport and physical activity 
throughout life, allowing them to stay healthy, and benefit from many other opportunities.  
There are 4 individual elements that lead to a person becoming physically literate: Physical 
Skills + Confidence + Motivation + Lots of opportunities = Physical Literacy.

Key Actions:
 Books to life project with Trelewis Primary starting in April 2017
 Dance tots workshops schools staff starting in September 2017

Page 32



 Deliver after school club starting in January 2018 on multi-skills resource and workshop 
aimed at KS2 teachers

 Tennis tots workshop starting in March 2018
 Pre-school physical literacy delivered in the North of the County Borough starting in 

October 2017
 Measure the impact of the project

3. MGirls
MGirls is an early intervention initiative that targets young females (8 – 16 years) who do 
not take part in sport and physical activity.  The activity sessions have been co-designed by 
the sports development team and the young girls.  The aim is to provide girls with a variety 
of opportunities to be physically active by first offering sessions within school to build their 
confidence in comfortable surroundings, before offering them community based sessions.

Key Actions:
 Sessions will be delivered in Afon Taf, Bishop Headley, Cyfarthfa and Penydre High 

schools starting September 2017, at lunchtime or after school
 Taster sessions to be held at Bedlinog, Trelewis and Edwardsville Primary Schools in 

July 2017 
 Community sessions to be held at Treharris Boys & Girls Club from July 2017, the 

Footlocker from October 2017 and Cefn Coed Community Centre from November 2017.
 A confidence and self-esteem program to be held in the south of the County Borough 

starting January 2018

4. Leadership in Sport
The leadership programme is split into 2 age groups: Young Leaders (Primary School) and 
Young Ambassadors (High School and College)

Young Leaders
Young Leaders is a programme to increase confidence and leadership skills within children 
in school year 6.  Following a mentoring programme they will provide a new range of 
games for the other children in the school to play on the school yard during lunch and break 
times as opposed to the traditional games played such as Football and Rugby.

Key Actions:
 Provide the young leaders program in 10 primary schools
 Mentor the each young leaders once a month
 Measure the subjective wellbeing of those taking part at the beginning and March
 Measure impact of the project

Page 33



Young Ambassadors
The young ambassador’s leadership programme continues from the young leaders within 
the high schools and Merthyr College.  The programme aims to empower and inspire 
young people to become leaders through sport, to help encourage their inactive peers to 
become hooked on sport.  The expectation of every Young Ambassador is to:
 Be the young person's voice for PE and School Sport in their school and community 
 Promote the positive values of sport 
 Be a role model and champion for PE and school sport 
 Increase participation opportunities and healthy lifestyles to help get every child hooked 

on sport for life

Key Actions
 Provide the young leaders program in all 4 high schools and Merthyr College
 Attend the National Young Ambassador Conference in October with 4 representatives 
 Measure the subjective wellbeing of those taking part at the beginning and March
 Measure impact of the project.

5. Insport Gold 
Merthyr Tydfil CBC is engaged in the Disability Sport Wales Insport development 
programme. This programme supports and challenges local authorities to be inclusive in 
the delivery, planning and development of sport and physical activity. The programme 
consists of 4 incremental standards (Ribbon, Bronze, Silver and Gold) against which a 
series of aims have been identified.  Merthyr Tydfil CBC is working towards Gold Level. 
The target date for completion is 2020.

Key Action:
 Development of a Insport project plan September 2017 
 Consultation with disable participants and key stakeholders December 2017
 Confirmation of Insport aims with Disability Sport Wales panel March 2018

6. Club Support
Working with local organisations and clubs, the local authority will develop the governance, 
sustainability and presence of clubs to ensure their long term future and maximise the 
opportunities for physical activity in the borough.

Key Actions:
 All club Community chest grant recipients to complete Club solutions March 2018
 Club calendar March 2018
 Set up an affiliated running and walking forum March 2018

Page 34



(b) Project Performance

Local Measure Wellbeing score of participants in Active Merthyr projects

Wellbeing Score WELLBEING COMPONENTS

EVENT DATE COUNT SCORE Good 
Feeling

Meaning & 
Purpose

Good 
Relation-

ships

Average Score - 188 3.37 3.34 3.35 3.56

Run Buggy Run Jul 2017 6 3.12 3.50 3.06 3.06

SHEP8 Jul 2017 51 3.38 3.27 3.32 3.86

SHEP8 Aug 2017 24 3.60 3.51 3.54 4.00

Basketball Sep 2017 12 3.23 3.19 3.36 2.92

Back to Netball Oct 2017 10 3.73 3.63 3.83 3.70

Multi Skills9 Oct 2017 15 3.42 3.44 3.56 2.93

Multi Skills9 Oct 2017 10 3.67 3.60 3.60 4.10

Young Leaders Oct 2017 60 3.22 3.25 3.16 3.30

(c) Project Evaluation

A mid-year evaluation of the project is currently underway.  Once this has been prepared this 
will inform our judgement of the project and will help SportWales inform their judgement on 
delivery of the plan.  Our initial judgement is good, which is based on:

 All elements the project have achieved their output targets with the exception of Bump Fit.
 In three elements the output targets have been exceeded.
 There is an improvement in the subjective wellbeing scores of participants.

8 School Holiday Enrichment Programme
9 These multi skills sessions were delivered through the medium of Welsh

JUDGEMENT Good

Page 35



Additional Service Performance Information

The rate of participations in free public swims by those aged 16 and under

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

View Data 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2017/18 2016/17

MT All 2,235 1,853 1,703 375 540 4

MT Boys 2,122 1,759 1,665 368 4

MT Girls 2,352 1,954 1,743 382 4

Wales All 681 504 377 245

Wales Boys 671 486 362 241

Wales Girls 691 522 393 250

The rate of participations in free public swims by those aged 60 and over

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

View Data 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2017/18 2016/17

MT All 1,507 1,228 1,055 1,056 920 4

MT Male 1,345 1,485 1,317 1,351 3

MT Female 1,647 1,003 823 795 7

Wales All 943 847 806 811

Wales Male 1,075 968 927 922

Wales Female 829 743 702 714

The percentage of children who are Hooked on Sport

3 year Survey Data Annual Target LA Rank

View Data 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2015/16

MT All 32.5 - 48.1 - - 13

MT Boys 37.1 - 48.4 - - 18

MT Girls 27.7 - 47.7 - - 5

Wales All 40.1 - 48.0 - -

Wales Boys 44.0 - 51.5 - -

Wales Girls 36.0 - 44.4 - -

Page 36

http://www.freeswimmingwales.net/IAS/themes/freeswimming/16yearsandunder/view?viewId=906
http://www.freeswimmingwales.net/IAS/themes/freeswimming/60yearsandover/view?viewId=908
http://sport.wales/research--policy/surveys-and-statistics/school-sport-survey.aspx


The percentage of children who use leisure centres at least once per week

3 year Survey Data Annual Target LA Rank

View Data 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2015/16

MT All 29.2 - 37.8 - - 9

MT Boys 26.9 - 34.3 - - 10

MT Girls 31.6 - 41.6 - - 4

Wales All 30.4 - 33.7 - -

Wales Boys 29.7 - 32.1 - -

Wales Girls 31.1 - 34.9 - -

The percentage of children who participate frequently in extracurricular sport

3 year Survey Data Annual Target LA Rank

View Data 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2015/16

MT All 41.7 - 48.8 - - 13

MT Boys 44.3 - 48.2 - - 18

MT Girls 39.1 - 49.6 - - 6

Wales All 47.1 - 48.9 - -

Wales Boys 49.2 - 50.4 - -

Wales Girls 45.0 - 47.4 - -

The percentage of children who participate frequently in community sport

3 year Survey Data Annual Target LA Rank

View Data 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2015/16

MT All 46.5 - 63.6 - - 10

MT Boys 49.6 - 63.9 - - 17

MT Girls 43.3 - 63.3 - - 6

Wales All 55.4 - 63.3 - -

Wales Boys 58.2 - 66.0 - -

Wales Girls 52.5 - 60.5 - -

Page 37

http://sport.wales/research--policy/surveys-and-statistics/school-sport-survey.aspx
http://sport.wales/research--policy/surveys-and-statistics/school-sport-survey.aspx
http://sport.wales/research--policy/surveys-and-statistics/school-sport-survey.aspx


This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT 
 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Annual Report 2016/17 for the Cwm Taf 
Safeguarding Board 
 
 
1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 The purpose of the report is to share with Scrutiny the Annual Report for 2016/17 for 

the Cwm Taf Safeguarding Board (Children, Adults and MASH). 
 
1.2 The Cwm Taf Safeguarding Boards for adults and children have a statutory 

responsibility to publish Annual Reports on 31st July each year, setting out how they 
have exercised their functions in the preceding financial year. 

 
2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that 
 
2.1 Scrutiny Committee Members note and debate the contents of the report. 
 
 
3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 Safeguarding involves both the protection of children and adults at risk from abuse, 

neglect or other kinds of harm and preventing them from becoming at risk of abuse, 
neglect or other kinds of harm. 

 
3.2 The Cwm Taf Safeguarding Adults Board and the Cwm Taf Safeguarding Children 

Board are the multi-agency partnerships that have responsibility for safeguarding 
children and adults at risk in Merthyr Tydfil and Rhondda Cynon Taf.  

 
 

Date Written 3rd October 2017 
Report Author Nicola Kingham/Lisa Curtis-Jones  
Service Area Social Services 
Committee Date 7th November 2017 

Page 39

Agenda Item 5



3.3 The Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) sits within the structure of the Boards 
to enhance safeguarding practice, with agencies working together in one place to 
receive all safeguarding referrals and share relevant agency information to make 
collaborative decisions.  

 
3.4 In 2016/17 the Safeguarding Adults Board and the Safeguarding Children Board, in 

conjunction with the MASH, have continued to collaborate to safeguard people of all 
ages.  This has resulted in the creation of a joint regional multi-agency Cwm Taf 
Safeguarding Board and the production of the first Cwm Taf Safeguarding Annual 
Report for all ages. 
    

4.0 ANNUAL REPORT 2016 / 2017 
 
4.1 The purpose of the Annual Report is twofold; it is a tool of accountability and a tool 

for evaluation. Accountability has three components: 
 accountability to the public; 
 accountability to the statutory partner agencies of the Board; and 
 accountability to the inspectorate bodies. 

 
4.2 The required content of the Report is set out in the statutory guidance under Part 7 

of the Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014.  A summary of some of the 
key achievements included in the report is provided below: 

 
4.3 Safeguarding Adults 

 Expanded the scope of the existing Protocol for the Immediate Response to 
Critical Incidents Protocol to include critical incidents involving adults at risk.  

 There were 757 safeguarding reports received for Merthyr Tydfil in 2016/17, of 
which 43 proceeded to an enquiry. The risk was reduced or removed at case 
closure for 95.8% of these enquiries. 

 Managing Adult Large Scale Safeguarding Investigations protocol developed 
which enhances multi-agency communication, co-ordination and ensures 
availability of appropriate resources when large scale abuse is suspected. 

 Ten individual case audits were completed during the year, in addition to 2 
thematic audits on repeat referrals and cases in an NHS setting.  

 Supported the completion of one Domestic Homicide Review, commissioned by 
the Cwm Taf Community Safety Partnership, which is due to be published in 
2017.  
 

Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards - 514 DoLS assessments and re-assessments 
were completed by the Cwm Taf Supervisory Bodies, ie. MTCBC, RCTCBC and the 
Cwm Taf UHB.  This was an increase from the previous year's figures (480 total 
assessments and re-assessments).  However, the number of new requests continue 
to rise, from 1,448 in 2015/16 to 1,786 in 2016/17 and therefore the waiting lists for 
assessments are still high.  This has been recognised as a risk that is being 
monitored by the Board.  
 
Adult Reviews - 7 new cases considered, which is a 75% increase compared to 
2015/16.  This is likely to be due to the strengthened governance arrangements, 
including clearer criteria for referrals. 
 
 

Page 40



Two Adult Practice Reviews (APR) commenced and another one continued from the 
previous year.  
 

4.4 Safeguarding Children 
 The Immediate Response to Critical Incidents Protocol was used once during the 

year to address the risks associated with 5 individuals who were placing 
themselves in danger through their joint behaviour.  A multi-agency approach 
was put in place to deal with these issues which resulted in positive outcomes for 
all those involved.   

 The priorities for tackling neglect in for 2016/17 have focused on improving the 
usage of the Assessment Tool for Neglect amongst practitioners.  

 During 2016/17 the number of children on the Child Protection Register increased 
by 12% for Merthyr Tydfil. 

 Development of a Protocol for Responding to Challenging Cases for children on 
the Child Protection Register which provides practitioners with guidance on the 
process to be followed in cases where a Care and Support Plan is not reducing 
the risk. 

 Implemented an extensive quality assurance and audit programme which has 
generated learning that has been shared with practitioners. 

 
Child Sexual Exploitation - The continued implementation of the regional CSE 
Action Plan has been fully supported by the Board CSE Champion and a CSE 
Consultant Social Worker, seconded to work with the Board by Barnardos. A CSE 
needs assessment and an audit of CSE cases was carried out which enabled the 
Board to share learning and resulted in the implementation of CSE Strategy 
Meetings and Multi-Agency CSE (MACSE) meetings to share intelligence. 
 
Child Practice Reviews - 17 cases were considered; including all unexpected 
deaths in children, but none met the criteria for a Child Practice Review. Two Adult 
Practice Reviews commenced in 2016 and both established a joint child/adult 
approach to learning due to the age of the individuals.  One Child Practice Review, 
carried out in 2015 was published by the Board in 2016/17 and one Multi-Agency 
Practitioner Forum was held to consider the learning in relation to one case that did 
not meet the criteria for a CPR. 
 

4.5 MASH 
 Governance arrangements strengthened to oversee the ongoing development 

and improvement of the MASH. 
 A comprehensive accommodation review carried out with alteration works 

subsequently in place to expand and improve MASH accommodation by Autumn 
2017. 

 Completed a multi-agency review of MASH processes and a thresholding review 
/screening pilot of children’s referrals into MASH. This has led to the proposal for 
a Cwm Taf co-ordinated thresholding approach to be developed in 2017/18. 

 The total numbers of referrals/contacts that were triaged by the MASH for 
2016/2017 were 24,644. 2,511 met the threshold for child protection, adult 
protection or high risk domestic abuse, an increase of 12% compared to the 
previous year. 

 
 

Page 41



 There has been a slight increase in repeat referrals by 0.43% for Child Protection 
in Merthyr Tydfil during the second year of MASH, however these were 
appropriate and for differing reasons. 

 The percentage of repeat reports for Adult Safeguarding in Merthyr Tydfil CBC 
has increased by 3% compared to 2015/16 (from 19% to 22%).  The increase is 
due to differing concerns relating to Adults at Risk which are often complex and 
require safeguarding intervention.  

 
4.6 Joint Safeguarding Functions 

 A programme of engagement, participation and communication activities was 
delivered during the year, including Safeguarding Week, November 2016, which 
involved over 40 agencies delivering over 70 events across Cwm Taf. 

 Over 2,000 people received safeguarding training via the Cwm Taf Social Care 
Workforce Development Partnership. 

 Collaboration activities took place with a range of other agencies, partnerships 
and Boards. 

 
5.0 CONSULTATION 
 
5.1 The Annual Report has been approved by the Cwm Taf Safeguarding Board and 

shared with the Welsh Government, the National Independent Safeguarding Board 
and the five other Regional Safeguarding Boards. 

 
5.2 A copy of the report has been published on the Cwm Taf Safeguarding Board 

website www.cwmtafsafeguarding.org  
 
6.0 CONTRIBUTION TO CORPORATE PRIORITIES 
   
6.1 Children and Adults are safe and protected from neglect and abuse. 
 
6.2 Social Services practice is compliant with the Social Services and Well-Being 

(Wales) Act. 
 
6.3  Improve Performance. 
 
6.4 Improve partnership working. 
 
6.5 Promote early intervention and prevention. 
 
 
 
 
LISA CURTIS-JONES 
CHIEF OFFICER (SOCIAL SERVICES) 

 
COUNCILLOR DAVID HUGHES 

CABINET MEMBER FOR                
SOCIAL SERVICES 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 42

http://www.cwmtafsafeguarding.org/


BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

Annual Report 2016/17 
– Cwm Taf 
Safeguarding Board. 
 

  
 
 
 

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 43



 

Page 44



2 
 

Contents 
 
 

Foreword - Co-Chairs of the Cwm Taf Safeguarding Board ................. 3 
 
What does Safeguarding in Cwm Taf look like? ................................... 4 
 
Safeguarding Adults in Cwm Taf.......................................................... 6 
 
Safeguarding Children in Cwm Taf .................................................... 14 
 
The Cwm Taf Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) ..................... 23 
 
Joint Safeguarding Functions ............................................................ 29 
 
Managing Our Resources in 2016/17 ................................................ 36 
 
Priorities for 2017/18 .......................................................................... 36 
 
Are You Concerned About Someone? ............................................... 37 
 
Glossary of Terms ............................................................................. 38 

 

  

Page 45



3 
 

Foreword - Co-Chairs of the Cwm Taf 
Safeguarding Board 
 
Welcome to the first Safeguarding Annual Report for Cwm Taf.  
 
In 2016/17 the Safeguarding Adults Board and the Safeguarding Children Board, 
in conjunction with the Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub, have continued to 
collaborate to safeguard people of all ages. This has resulted in the creation of a 
joint regional multi-agency Cwm Taf Safeguarding Board. 
 
This Report highlights the work that the Board undertook during 2016/17 toward 
our overall aim, which is to ensure that the people of Cwm Taf are safeguarded 
from abuse, neglect or other forms of harm. This can only be achieved through our 
strong partnership, where all Board agencies work together proactively and 
productively. 
 
This year, our partners have further demonstrated their commitment to multi-
agency safeguarding practice by formalising their financial contributions to support 
the effective working of the Board. This has ensured that there is a structure in 
place to ensure our compliance with the Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) 
Act 2014. 
 
We continue to seek opportunities to further develop and improve safeguarding in 
Cwm Taf and we recognise that this can only be achieved through effective 
collaboration. We will therefore continue to collaborate with partner agencies, 
Welsh Government and other partnerships and safeguarding boards to enhance 
practice and to share learning.  
 
We also endeavour to engage with children and adults and offer them 
opportunities to participate in our work. We would encourage anyone who would 
like to be involved to contact our Business Management Unit on 01443 484523 or 
email: cwmtafsafeguarding@rctcbc.gov.uk  
 
 
 

 
 

 
  

This image cannot currently be displayed.

Page 46

mailto:cwmtafsafeguarding@rctcbc.gov.uk


4 
 

What does Safeguarding in Cwm Taf 
look like?  
 
Safeguarding involves both the protection of children and adults at risk from 
abuse, neglect or other kinds of harm and preventing them from becoming at risk 
of abuse, neglect or other kinds of harm. 
 
Adults at risk are defined as those who have needs for care and support and as a 
result of those needs are unable to protect themselves against abuse or neglect or 
the risk of it. The term care and support is used to describe the help that some 
adults need to live to improve their quality of life.  
 
Abuse means physical, sexual, psychological, emotional or financial abuse. 
Financial abuse includes:- 
 having money or other property stolen; 
 being defrauded; 
 being put under pressure in relation to money or other property; 
 having money or other property misused. 

 
Neglect means a failure to meet a person’s basic physical, emotional, social or 
psychological needs, which is likely to result in an impairment of the person’s well-
being. 
 
Cwm Taf covers the local authority areas of Merthyr Tydfil and Rhondda Cynon 
Taf (RCT), covering a population of around 300,000.  
 
Safeguarding in Cwm Taf is overseen by the regional multi-agency Cwm Taf 
Safeguarding Board (from hereon in known as the Board) with responsibility for: 
 Safeguarding Adults 
 Safeguarding Children  
 The Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH)  

 
The responsibilities and functions of the Board are set out in the statutory guidance 
under Part 7 of the Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014. It has an 
overall responsibility for challenging relevant agencies so that; 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

There are effective measures in place to protect children and adults at risk who are 
experiencing harm or who may be at risk as the result of abuse, neglect or other 
kinds of harm; and 
 

There is effective inter-agency co-operation in planning and delivering protection 
services and in sharing information. 
 

Page 47



5 
 

 
i. Who are the Members of the Safeguarding Board? 

 
The Lead Partner for the Board is Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council 
and the membership complies with the guidance issued under Part 7 (Section 
134(2) of the SS&WB Act 2014). A list of members is attached as Appendix 1. 

 
 

ii. What Did We Aim to Achieve in 2016/17  
 
The Board published two Annual Plans on 31 March 2016, setting out the priorities 
for safeguarding adults and for safeguarding children in 2016/17. These priorities 
were agreed by all Board partner agencies at a Board Development Day earlier in 
2016.  
 
The Annual Plans for 2016/17 can be accessed at www.cwmtafsafeguarding.org or 
by contacting the Safeguarding Business Management Unit on 01443 484524. 
 
In relation to the structure of the Board the agreed outcome for 2016/17 was: 
 
To have a well established structure and governance arrangements in place 
that supports its effective operation and its compliance with the Social 
Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014. 
 
 
How Did We Achieve this? 
 
The Board has been operating as a joint Board for children and adults since 2015. 
There are clearly defined Terms of Reference as well as role profiles for Board 
members to ensure that each agency represented promotes its effective 
functioning. 
 
The functions of the Board are implemented via a number of committees and sub 
groups which sit within the overall structure. A performance and risk management 
framework is in place to enable these groups to report on key issues to the Board. 
 
The Board is supported by the Safeguarding Business Management Unit which 
provides effective management, co-ordination and administrative support to 
ensure compliance with the Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014. 
 
The Board structure, including the MASH, is set out in Appendix 2. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 48

http://www.cwmtafsafeguarding.org/


6 
 

Safeguarding Adults in Cwm Taf 

 
 

i. What Did We Aim to Achieve in 2016/17  
 
The Board identified the following priority outcomes in relation to safeguarding 
adults for 2016/17: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
ii. How Did We Deliver Our Priorities? 

 
The Board has a robust Sub Group structure in place which is continuously being 
reviewed and improved to support the delivery of its key objectives and priorities.  
 
Whilst the Board focuses on the strategic direction for safeguarding in Cwm Taf, 
holding partner agencies to account on the effectiveness of safeguarding 
measures, the business in relation to adults at risk is overseen by the Adults 
Operational Committee (AOp). The AOp is responsible for the implementation of 
an Annual Work Plan which is further supported and implemented by the Board 
Sub Groups.  
 
 
 
 

OUR VISION 
 

To ensure that adults in Cwm Taf, over the age of 18, are protected 
from abuse, neglect or other kinds of harm and are prevented from 
becoming at risk of abuse, neglect or other kinds of harm and they 

live in an environment that promotes their wellbeing. 
 

The Board will engage with, listen to and hear the views of adults. 

The Board anticipates and identifies where there may be specific groups of 
adults at risk and in need of safeguarding and works with service providers to 
develop earlier identification and preventative services. 
 

The Board is assured that there are effective inter-agency safeguarding 
practice and processes in place, supported by robust quality assurance and 
information sharing systems 
 

Page 49



7 
 

iii. What Did We Achieve in Relation to Safeguarding Adults in 
2016/17? 
 

 
SAFEGUARDING SPECIFIC GROUPS OF ADULTS AT RISK 
 
PREVENTATIVE SERVICES 
 
Why was this a Priority? 
 
Part 7 of the Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014 describes the 
function of the Board to; ‘anticipate and identify where there may be specific 
groups of adults at risk in need of safeguarding and work with service providers to 
develop earlier identification and preventative services.’ 
 
What did we achieve in relation to this Priority? 
 
The Board reviewed of third sector preventative services within Cwm Taf was 
carried out in October 2016. The following preventative services were identified: 
 
 DEWIS ‘Find a group’ service covers Cwm Taf third sector services for all 

ages; 
 ICF Community Coordinators have knowledge of third sector services for 

adults aged 50+ including micro mapping of individual areas across Cwm 
Taf. 

 Supporting People Services - provides a number of housing related support 
to adults aged 18+ including pre tenancy, tenancy, emergency 
accommodation, mental health services and floating support.  

 Recovery Link – Community Mental Health Teams - support provided, 
including Street Smart and homeless crisis intervention for individuals 
accessing services. 

 Age Alliance Wales - an alliance of 21 national voluntary organisations 
working with, and for, older people. 

 
Links to these services are now on the Board's 
website: www.cwmtafsafeguarding.org  
 
What is left to do in relation to this Priority? 
 
Further work will be undertaken in 2017/18 to evaluate the effectiveness of 
preventative support for adults in Cwm Taf. 
 
 
SAFEGUARDING OLDER PEOPLE LIVING IN CARE HOMES 
 
Why was this a Priority? 
 
In 2015/16, care homes were the highest category of place where alleged abuse 
occurred in Merthyr Tydfil and the second highest in RCT.  
 

Page 50

http://www.cwmtafsafeguarding.org/


8 
 

In November 2015, the Board held a workshop to receive information on the review 
into ‘Operation Jasmine - In search of Accountability' report around abuse in care 
homes in a neighbouring local authority. This led to the development of an 
improvement action plan for the Board.   
 
What did we achieve in relation to this Priority? 
 
In 2016 the Board strengthened the links between the improvement actions 
identified following the Operation Jasmine workshop and the Older People 
Commissioner's Care Home Review: A Place to Call Home. The specific actions 
achieved relate to: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
What is left to do in relation to this Priority? 
 
In 2017/18 the Board plans to do some specific work around safeguarding 
concerns in relation to people lacking mental capacity or who suffer from 
dementia. 
 
 
PREVENTING SUICIDE AND SELF HARM 
 
Why was this a Priority? 
 
In the Annual Plan 2016/17 the Board identified a need to make clearer links with 
the Together for Mental Health Partnership to support this priority. 
 
 
 

Using opportunities to share good practice amongst Care Home providers 
 

Making links with the community and the third sector as a source of support 
 

Reinforcing emotional neglect as a form of abuse 
 

Effective use of advocacy to support people to ensure that their voices are 
heard 
 

Raising an awareness amongst professionals of the importance of good care 
and ensuring that there is appropriate safeguarding training being delivered 
 

Page 51



9 
 

What did we achieve in relation to this Priority? 
 
In 2016/17, the Board engaged with other partnerships, including the Together for 
Mental Health Partnership and expanded the scope of the existing Protocol for the 
Immediate Response to Critical Incidents Protocol to include critical incidents 
involving adults at risk.  
 
What is left to do in relation to this Priority? 
 
The Board member for Health will continue to be the link between the CTSB and 
the Together for Mental Health Partnership. 
 
 
DEPRIVATION OF LIBERTY SAFEGUARDS (DoLS) 
 
Why was this a Priority? 
 
The aim of the DoLS is to provide legal protection for people who lack the capacity 
to consent to their care arrangements in care homes and who are deprived of their 
liberty. When a person lacks the mental capacity to make decisions about the care 
or treatment they need, and may be at risk if that care is not provided, it is 
sometimes in their best interests to deprive them of their liberty. The aim of this is 
to prevent them from coming to harm.  
 
What did we achieve in relation to this Priority? 
 
A governance structure, sitting under the Board, has been established (see 
Appendix 2) to ensure that the responsibilities of partner agencies are carried out 
in accordance with the relevant legislation.  
 
In 2016/17 a total number of 514 DoLS assessments and re-assessments were 
completed by the Cwm Taf Supervisory Bodies, i.e. RCTCBC, MTCBC and the 
Cwm Taf UHB. This was an increase from the previous year's figures (480 total 
assessments and re-assessments). However, the number of new requests 
continue to rise, from 1,448 in 2015/16 to 1,786 in 2016/17 and therefore the 
waiting lists for assessments are still high. This has been recognised as a risk that 
is being monitored by the Board. Mitigating actions continue to be introduced, 
including an increase in staffing capacity to carry out assessments. 
 
The graphs below evidence these figures. 
 

Page 52



10 
 

 
 

Figure 1: DoLS assessments undertaken 

 

 

Figure 2: Waiting lists for DoLS Assessments 

 
What is left to do in relation to this Priority? 
 
In the coming year the quality assurance framework for DoLS will be further 
developed and the risks associated with the waiting lists for assessments will 
continue to be monitored. 
 
 
 
 
 

0

50

100

150

200

250

2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17

CTUHB

MTCBC

RCTCBC

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17

CTUHB

MTCBC

RCTCBC

Page 53



11 
 

EFFECTIVE INTER-AGENCY SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE 
 
The Social Services and Wellbeing Act has caused us to change our categories 
and recording methods, as a result some of the data for 2014-15 and 2015-16 is 
not comparable with the 2016-17 data below. 
 
REFERRALS FOR 2016/17 
 
There were 3551 safeguarding reports received for RCT in 2016/17, of which 581 
proceeded to an enquiry, and 757 safeguarding reports received for Merthyr Tydfil, 
of which 43 proceeded to an enquiry.  
 
The graph below shows the number of Safeguarding reports received in Merthyr. 
 

 
 
 
The graph below shows the number of Safeguarding reports received in RCT. 
 

 
 
The increase in reports for 2016/17 was due to the Social Services & Well-being 
(Wales) Act duty to report and the changes that have been made in recording 
Adult at Risk enquires. 

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

3500

4000

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

Reports

Page 54



12 
 

The highest category of abuse for 2016-17 was Emotional/Psychological and the 
place where the highest level of abuse occurred was within an individual’s own 
home.  
 
The risk was reduced or removed at case closure for 97.3% of enquires in RCT 
and 95.8% of enquiries in Merthyr Tydfil. This is an improvement compared to 
96.15% for RCT and 95% for Merthyr Tydfil in 2015/16.  
 
 
POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 
 
The Board has a Protocols and Procedures Group (PPG) which ensures that there 
is a clear process in place for the development and review of protocols and 
procedures to safeguard children and adults at risk. 
 
During 2016/17, the following document was developed to support and enhance 
effective adult safeguarding in Cwm Taf: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
QUALITY ASSURANCE 
 
The Adults Quality Assurance (AQA) Sub Group has the responsibility for 
undertaking audits, reviews and investigations of cases and examining practice 
issues to ensure that adult safeguarding practice is effective. 
 
In 2016/17 a work plan and audit programme was developed to generate learning 
and improvements in relation to good practice and areas for development. A new 
case audit tool and learning tool were developed to support this.  
 
Ten individual case audits were completed during the year, in addition to 2 
thematic audits on repeat referrals and cases in an NHS setting. Actions emerging 
from the thematic audits are being carried forward into 2017/18. The learning 
generated from these audits has included: 
 

1. The critical role of the social worker/care manager in adult safeguarding 
2. Barriers experienced by the adult at risk in reporting concerns. 
3. The need to involve service users and/or their families throughout the 

safeguarding process 
4. The need for referring professionals to establish facts before reporting 

concerns to the Local Authority.  
5. The need to improve administrative processes and for professionals to 

prioritise safeguarding meetings so that they can happen quickly.  
 

Managing Adult Large Scale Safeguarding Investigations - enhances 
multi-agency communication, co-ordination and ensures availability of 
appropriate resources when large scale abuse is suspected. Monitoring data 
will be made available in the 2017/18 Annual Report. 
 

Page 55



13 
 

Learning points from audits are disseminated to staff via a number of different 
methods, including Sub Group members, Safeguarding E-Bulletin, Safeguarding 
website and learning events/fora. 
 
 
ADULT REVIEWS 
 
The Adult Review Sub Group (ARG) ensures that the Board discharges its 
functions in relation to Adult Practice Reviews and other appropriate reviews 
where an adult has died, completed suicide or has been subject to potentially life 
threatening injuries. 
In 2016/17 the ARG considered 7 new cases, which is a 75% increase compared 
to 2015/16. This is likely to be due to the strengthened governance arrangements, 
including clearer criteria for referrals. 
Two Adult Practice Reviews (APR) commenced and another one continued from 
the previous year. Two of these have now been completed and will be published in 
August 2017. 
Of the 5 cases that didn't progress to an APR: 
 2 are awaiting further investigations  
 1 was subject to further consideration by another Safeguarding Board area 
 1 was subject to a review by the provider organisation 
 1 was remitted to the Adults Quality Assurance Sub Group for review 

 
The Board has also supported the completion of one Domestic Homicide Review, 
commissioned by the Cwm Taf Community Safety Partnership, which is due to be 
published in 2017.  
 
 
ADULT PROTECTION AND SUPPORT ORDERS (APSOs) 
 
Chapter 4 of the statutory guidance issued under Part 7 of the Social Services and 
Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014 sets out the arrangements for these civil orders to be 
used by a local authority to enable an authorised officer to speak in private with a 
person suspected of being an adult at risk. 
 
The Board has ensured that nominated staff have been appropriately trained and 
that a regional process has been put in place. To date, no orders have been sought 
in Cwm Taf. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 56



14 
 

Safeguarding Children in Cwm Taf 
 

 
 

i. What Did We Aim to Achieve in 2016/17  
 
The Board identified the following priority outcomes for safeguarding children in 
2016/17: 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
ii. How Did We Deliver Our Priorities? 

 
The Board has a well established Sub Group structure in place which is 
continuously being reviewed and improved to support the delivery of its key 
objectives and priorities.  
 
Whilst the Board focuses on the strategic direction for safeguarding in Cwm Taf, 
holding partner agencies to account on the effectiveness of safeguarding 
measures, the business in relation to children is overseen by the Children 
Operational Committee (COp). The COp is responsible for the implementation of 
an Annual Work Plan which is further supported and implemented by the Board 
Sub Groups.  

OUR VISION 
 

To ensure that children and young people in Cwm Taf, up to the age 
of 18, are protected from abuse, neglect or other kinds of harm and 

are prevented from becoming at risk of abuse, neglect or other kinds 
of harm and they live in an environment that promotes their 

wellbeing. 
 

The Board will engage with, listen to and hear the views of children 
and young people. 

Children and young people who are particularly vulnerable have been identified 
and the Board is assured that there are measures in place to protect them and 
to prevent them from becoming further at risk. 
 

The Board is assured that there are effective inter-agency safeguarding 
practice and processes in place, supported by robust quality assurance and 
information sharing systems  
 

Page 57



15 
 

 
iii. What Did We Achieve in Relation to Safeguarding Children in 

2016/17? 
 

SAFEGUARDING SPECIFIC GROUPS OF CHILDREN 
 
At the Development Day partner agencies identified priority areas relating to 
specific groups of children and young people who are particularly vulnerable, 
ensuring that there are measures in place to protect them and to prevent them 
from becoming further at risk. 
 
To support this, Champions were appointed to act as a positive focus for the 
Board in respect of the relevant priority area so as to ensure that full consideration 
is given to the impact of the Board's activities and decisions upon the specified 
group. 
 
 
PREVENTION OF SUICIDE AND SELF HARM 
 
Why was this a Priority? 
 
In 2016/17, following a Cwm Taf wide partnership review, it was agreed to fully 
integrate the work of the Reduction of Suicide and Self Harm Steering Group into 
the governance arrangements of the Safeguarding Board. This includes 
monitoring the delivery of the Welsh Government Strategy ‘Talk to Me 2’ which 
has a specific remit for the under 25 year old age group.   
 
What did we achieve in relation to this Priority? 
 
Actions completed during the year included: 
 
 An awareness raising/training session was delivered on a multi-agency 

basis.  
 The Protocol for Immediate Response to Critical Incidents was reviewed 

and updated to adopt an all age approach. 
 The Protocol was used once during the year to address the risks associated 

with 5 individuals who were placing themselves in danger through their joint 
behaviour. A multi-agency approach was put in place to deal with these 
issues which resulted in positive outcomes for all those involved.   

 The Cwm Taf Education Psychology Service has provided advice to a 
number of schools in relation to incidents of deliberate self harm. 

 
What is left to do in relation to this Priority? 
 
The Prevention of Suicide and Self Harm will remain a priority for the Board in 
2017/18, with a specific emphasis on supporting children and young people with 
mental health and emotional wellbeing needs.  
 
A review of the training delivery group is planned for 2017/18 to increase the 
number of sessions delivered.   

Page 58



16 
 

CHILD SEXUAL EXPLOITATION (CSE) 
 
Why was this a Priority? 
 
Tackling CSE is a Welsh Government priority which continues to be addressed 
across Cwm Taf via co-ordinated implementation of the actions within the 
Regional Action Plan. 
 
What did we achieve in relation to this Priority? 
 
The implementation of the regional CSE Action Plan, has been fully supported by 
the Board CSE Champion and a CSE Consultant Social Worker, seconded to work 
with the Board by Barnardo's.  
 
A CSE needs assessment and an audit of CSE cases was carried out which 
enabled the Board to share learning and resulted in the following actions being 
implemented: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
What is left to do in relation to this Priority? 
 
CSE will continue to be a priority for the Board. Data in relation to the prevalence 
of CSE and any trends/issues will be captured in 2017/18. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Identification of the need to implement the improve the management and co-
ordination of a multi-agency response to young people who are at risk of harm due 
to CSE. A revised and improved process has been introduced and will be in place 
in Cwm Taf from April 2017. 
 

Delivery of training on CSE and Sexually Harmful Behaviour and increased staff 
awareness and training in the use of the SERAF risk assessment tool. 
 

Engagement and communications activities with professionals and public. 
 

CSE Training and awareness raising has taken place with wider agencies such as 
transport, licensed premises, voluntary sector and schools . 
 

A multi-agency process (MACSE) has been developed for pooling intelligence in 
relation to perpetrators, locations and our most vulnerable young people with a 
view to enhancing the focus of criminal and safeguarding interventions.  
 

Page 59



17 
 

NEGLECT  
 
Why was this a Priority? 
 
The percentage of children on the Child Protection Register under the category of 
Neglect has decreased from 44% to 42% for RCT and from 28% to 25% for 
Merthyr during 2016/17. Despite this Neglect remains the highest category of 
abuse for RCT, and the second highest category for Merthyr.   
 
What did we achieve in relation to this Priority? 
 
The priorities for tackling neglect in for 2016/17 have focussed on improving the 
usage of the Assessment Tool for Neglect amongst practitioners. This has 
identified a need to review and update the guidance that supports the tool. 
 
What is left to do in relation to this Priority? 
 
Neglect will continue to be a priority in the coming year. There will be a need to 
update the guidance that supports the Assessment Tool for Neglect and 
incorporate the tool into the new Cwm Taf Multi Agency Risk Assessment 
Framework (MARAF). This will enable agencies to work more consistently with 
complex families. 
 
 
CHILDREN LOOKED AFTER 
 
Why was this a Priority?  
 
The proportion of children looked after (CLA) across Cwm Taf is over a third more 
than the Welsh average. Whilst there is always a need to safeguard and look after 
some children, we believe that, by working more effectively together with our 
partner agencies we can reduce the number of children who need intensive 
interventions.  
 
The number of Children Looked After at 31st March 2017 in Cwm Taf was as 
follows:  
 

 

 

When a child in the care of the local authority is also on the Child Protection 
Register this is known as dual status. At the end of 2016/17 there were 45 children 
who were classed as dual status in Rhondda Cynon Taf and 9 children in Merthyr 
Tydfil. This is a decrease compared to 51 children in RCT and 7 children in 
Merthyr Tydfil in 2015/16.  

The table below shows that across Wales the average number of children in the 
care of the local authority has increased slightly. However despite this, the 

RCT 690 Merthyr Tydfil 145 

Page 60



18 
 

average number of children in care of the local authority across RCT and Merthyr 
Tydfil has decreased. 
 

(per 10,000 population) 2014 2015 2016 
Wales 91 89 90 
RCT 130 124 124 

Merthyr Tydfil 140 131 113 
 
Themes within Merthyr: 
 
 There was an increase in the number of CLA, noting that there was a small 

number of families known to the service for some time where neglect or 
neglect/domestic abuse was an issue. 

Themes within RCT: 
 
 21% increase in admissions in the period April 16-March 17 when 

compared to the same period in 2015-16 
 53% of admissions in this period are below 4 years old. (55% in the period 

April 16-March 17) 
 61% of admissions were open less than 6 months at time of becoming 

looked after. (57% in the period April 16-March 17) 
 
What did we achieve in relation to this Priority? 
 
Work was undertaken in relation to developing a statement of intent for achieving 
positive outcomes for children and young people who are looked after.  
 
This included a consultation event with a group of looked after young people which 
led to the production of a DVD. The messages obtained from young people were 
compelling and will lead priority in terms of delivery.  These included: 
 
 Its important to have somebody you can trust to talk to e.g. foster carer, a 

teacher, a support worker, a friend who had been through the same thing 
 Things that would make it better included: 

o Photographs of myself as a baby  
o Life Story Work 
o Explaining to me why I am looked after 
o Talking to somebody else who is also looked after 
 

 The young people told us that every young person who becomes looked 
after should have the following help: 

o Photographs of the place where you will live.  
o Meet the foster carer before moving to live there 
o  Have an explanation of what is happening so they can understand 

 
The Board has identified some areas for development linked to the placement of 
children and young people in Cwm Taf from other areas. One case has resulted in 
a review which has been escalated to the South Wales Safe Children Forum with 

Page 61



19 
 

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

N
um

be
r o

n 
C

P
R

 

CPR-Number Trends 

RCT-
Numbers on
CPR

Merthyr-
Numbers on
CPR

a recommendation for a cross-border review. Further concerns in relation to other 
cases have been addressed via the Board's Immediate Response Group.  
 
What is left to do in relation to this Priority? 
 
The Cwm Taf Partnership Shared Regional Children Young People and Families 
Strategy continues to be developed.  
 
Safeguarding in relation to Children Looked After continues to be a priority for the 
Board. There is a specific focus this coming year on safeguarding those children 
and young people that are placed outside of the area and those that are placed 
within Cwm Taf from other local authorities.  
 
 
EFFECTIVE INTER-AGENCY SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE 
 
The Board is required to ensure that agencies are effective in carrying out their 
safeguarding responsibilities. Systems are in place to review and challenge the 
contribution being made on an inter-agency basis across Cwm Taf. 
 
The Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) forms an integral part in ensuring 
that safeguarding in Cwm Taf is effective. The MASH is the front door for the 
receipt and assessment of all adult and child safeguarding referrals, and the Board 
continues to set and monitor priorities and objectives for the MASH.   
 
 
SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PERFORMANCE 

During 2016/17 the number of children on the Child Protection Register has 
increased by 12% across Merthyr Tydfil and decreased by 9% for Rhondda Cynon 
Taff, with 0-4 years being the highest age range for registrations across Cwm Taf. 

Page 62



20 
 

The number of re-registrations for children who have had 1 previous period of 
registration is 32% (132 children) for Rhondda Cynon Taff and 23% (26 children) 
for Merthyr Tydfil for 2016/17. This has remained consistent across RCT with a 
slight increase for Merthyr Tydfil compared to 2015/16. 

 
PROTOCOLS AND PROCEDURES 
 
The Board has a Protocols and Procedures Group (PPG) which ensures that there 
is a clear process in place for the development and review of protocols and 
procedures to safeguard children and adults at risk. 
 
During 2016/17, the following documents were reviewed/developed to support and 
enhance effective safeguarding for children in Cwm Taf: 
 
 Protocol for the Management of Self Harm in the Community - supports the 

implementation of the Strategy for the Reduction of Suicide and Self Harm 
by Young People in Rhondda Cynon Taf and Merthyr Tydfil by providing 
information for professionals about how to manage disclosures or 
suspicions of self harm in children and young people. 

 Schools Child Safeguarding Policy - further amendments incorporated to 
support safeguarding in schools 

 Guidance and Information for Foster Carers and Kinship Carers when an 
Allegation has been made against you  

 Protocol for Responding to Challenging Cases who are on the Child 
Protection Register - provides practitioners with guidance on the process to 
be followed in cases where a Child Protection Care and Support Plan is not 
reducing the risk to a child or young person 

 
The Cwm Taf Education Psychology Service has developed a Critical Incident 
Policy for schools and during the year was able to support schools in respect of 5 
sad events. This process was considered helpful by Head Teachers.  
 
 
QUALITY ASSURANCE  
 
The Quality Assurance Sub Group (QASG) for children has the responsibility for 
undertaking audits, reviews and investigations of cases and examining practice 
issues to ensure that safeguarding practice for children is effective and continually 
improving. 
 
During the year, an audit programme was implemented which looked at a number 
of areas including: 
 
 Multi-agency case audits - emerging themes included domestic abuse, 

substance misuse, neglect and repeat and prolonged registration, cross 
border issues. The complexity of many of these cases was clear and 
resulted in the development of the Challenging Cases Protocol (mentioned 
previously).  

Page 63



21 
 

 Children on the child protection register for more than 2 years, annual audit 
completed where examples of good practice were identified.  

 Increase in numbers on the child protection register in Merthyr Tydfil during 
quarter 3 (October - December)– recommended collaboration between 
Children Services and Adult Mental Health and support for young parents. 

 Re-registration audits – emerging themes included domestic abuse and 
substance misuse. 

 Annual Child Protection medicals audit - a decrease in numbers since 2011, 
from 153 in 2011/12 to 81 in 2015/16. In 2016/17 there was a slight 
increase to 112 medicals.  

 
Other QA development and improvement activities during the year included: 
 Audit tools and processes for case audit feedback to partner agency 

practitioners were reviewed and updated 
 Monitoring arrangements put in place in relation to young people being held 

in custody in police stations overnight 
 4 complaints were received and resolved in relation to child protection 

conferences, an increase of 2 since 2015/16. 
 68 cases were considered where the police used their powers of protection 

to remove children at risk - an increase compared to 50 cases during 
2015/16. 

 8 young people entered custody for the first time compared to 4 young 
people during 2015/16. 

 
 
SHARING LEARNING 
 
The process for identifying and sharing learning as a result of audits and reviews 
has been further improved during the year. Methods of dissemination include the 
Cwm Taf Safeguarding Website, via individual members of the group within their 
own agencies, via the bi-annual E-Bulletin and through staff meetings/practitioner 
forums. 
 
Learning themes identified during the year include: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Dealing with escalating challenging behaviour in children and young people 
 

The complexity of some cases and the need to manage these on a multi-
agency basis 
 

Parental alcohol and substance misuse 
 

The need to ensure the voice of the child is heard 
 

The need for accurate and up to date recording 
 

Page 64



22 
 

Areas of good practice identified included: 
 
 Initial concerns raised and acted upon quickly 
 Good multi-agency meetings held to manage cases 
 Aspects of good engagement with children and their families 

 
 
CHILD PRACTICE REVIEWS 
 
The Board's Child Review Group (CRG) has responsibility for considering all child 
deaths and potentially life threatening injuries or permanent impairment of 
development, with the exception of children who have died as a result of life 
limiting illnesses or victims of road traffic accidents. 
 
Where the criteria for a Child Practice Review are met the CRG makes a formal 
recommendation to the Co-Chairs of the Board to undertake the review. 
 
In 2016/17, 17 cases were considered; including all unexpected deaths in children, 
but none met the criteria for a Child Practice Review. Two Adult Practice Reviews 
commenced in 2016 and both established a joint child/adult approach to learning 
due to the age of the individuals. 
 
One Child Practice Review, carried out in 2015 was published by the Board in 
2016/17 and one Multi-Agency Practitioner Forum was held to consider the 
learning in relation to one case that did not meet the criteria for a CPR. 
 
The learning identified for these cases included: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Areas of good practice identified included the following: 
 
 Responsiveness of the Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust 
 Effective communication between multi agency partners 
 The dedication of workers to achieve positive impacts for children and 

young people 
 
 

The need for the Board to engage with the community, raising an 
awareness of safeguarding and how to report concerns. This learning has 
been incorporated into the Board's Communications Strategy. 
 

Managing cases where families are not co-operating with safeguarding 
concerns - guidance and training reviewed. 
 

Reinforcing the duty of agencies to report concerns via training 
 

Page 65



23 
 

The Cwm Taf Multi Agency 
Safeguarding Hub (MASH)  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The Cwm Taf MASH has been fully operational since 7 May 2015. The MASH 
(located at Pontypridd Police Station) was set up to enhance safeguarding 
practice, with agencies working together in one place to receive all safeguarding 
referrals and share relevant agency information to make collaborative decisions.  
 
MASH activity comprises: 
 
 Child Protection / Safeguarding 
 Adults at Risk Safeguarding 
 Domestic Abuse (MARAC - Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conference) 

 
Cwm Taf MASH Partners are: 
 
 Cwm Taf University Health Board 
 South Wales Police 
 Merthyr Tydfil CBC and Rhondda Cynon Taf CBC: 

o Adult Social Services 
o Children’s Services 
o Education 
o MARAC 
o Emergency Duty Team (EDT) 

 National Probation Service 
 Wales Community Rehabilitation Company 

 
The original objectives that were set for MASH related to the following themes:   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 

Our Vision 
That children and adults at risk in the Cwm Taf area are able 

to live safe lives 
 

Objective One: Improved coordination and consistency of threshold/decision 
making when a concern is raised 
 

Objective Two: Improved response times leading to earlier interventions  
 

Objective Three: Reduction of repeat referrals 
 

Page 66



24 
 

i. What Did We Aim to Achieve in 2016/17?  
 
The Board identified the following improvement outcomes for the  MASH in 2016/17: 
 
 The operation of the MASH is supported by a sustainable infrastructure that 

facilitates the effective management of accommodation, resources and 
systems. 

 The MASH has an agreed framework in place to measure and evaluate 
performance and outcomes and this is underpinned by quality assurance 
processes to support continuous improvement. 

 The operational delivery of the MASH is supported by effective information-
sharing, consistent processes and an integrated approach to thresholding. 
 
 

ii. How did we deliver our Priorities? 
 
The MASH Executive Group was set up to provide the overall direction for the 
MASH. The Group oversees and evaluates the work of the MASH Operational 
Committee in delivering the goals to improve safeguarding and promote the 
welfare of children, young people and adults at risk.  
  
A MASH sub-group has been set up to support the ongoing development of the 
MASH to ensure it continues to achieve its goals. 
 
This structure sits within the overall governance of the Cwm Taf Safeguarding 
Board (see Appendix 2). 
  
 
iii. What did we achieve in relation to the Cwm Taf MASH in 

2016/17?  
 
 
SUSTAINABLE INFRASTRUCTURE FOR ACCOMMODATION, RESOURCES 
AND SYSTEMS 
 
 Established the MASH Operational Committee and Sub Group to support 

MASH processes and systems 
 Resolved specific ICT issues via the deployment of a new system release 

of the multi-agency information sharing platform (Mhub) 
 Carried out a comprehensive accommodation review with 

recommendations for all agencies within MASH. Accommodation alteration 
works are subsequently in place to expand and improve MASH 
accommodation by Autumn 2017 

 
MEASURE AND EVALUATE PERFORMANCE AND OUTCOMES WITH 
QUALITY ASSURANCE TO SUPPORT CONTINUOUS IMPROVEMENT 
 
 Carried out an audit to investigate Children’s Section 47 fallout data, with 

actions identified  

Page 67



25 
 

 Carried out an audit to look at repeat referrals for Children, with actions 
identified 

 Integrated MASH performance into CTSB Quality Assurance performance 
indicator reporting scorecards 
 

EFFECTIVE INFORMATION-SHARING, CONSISTENT PROCESSES AND AN 
INTEGRATED APPROACH TO THRESHOLDING 
 
 Completed a multi-agency evaluation of MASH process maps and agreed a 

joint approach for amendments and improvements 
 Carried out a thresholding review / screening pilot of children’s referrals into 

MASH which led to the proposal for a Cwm Taf single thresholding 
approach to be developed in 2017/18 

 
The following table shows the number of MASH referrals that met the threshold for 
child protection, adult protection and high risk domestic abuse. The number of 
incidents is comparable with the previous year's data, with a slight increase 
overall. 
  

Cwm Taf MASH Information Sharing (Total Mhub incidents) 

2015/16 (over 11 months as MASH 
commenced in May 2015) 

2236  

2016/17 (12 months) 2511 

 
The data is indicative of the thresholding and triaging of all types of referrals that 
enter the MASH through agencies front door. The total numbers of 
referrals/contacts that were triaged by the MASH for 2016/2017 were 24,644. The 
data represents a 90% reduction and break in demand demonstrating only the 
referrals with the most significant risk are processed through the MASH. 
 
REDUCTION OF REPEAT REFERRALS (CHILDREN) 
 
There has been a reduction in repeat referrals for Child Protection in RCT during 
the second year of MASH, meeting the MASH objective to reduce repeat referrals. 
Merthyr Tydfil referrals have risen by 0.43% which is a slight increase, however 
these were appropriate and for differing reasons. 
 
 

Percentage of Children referrals that are re-referrals within 12 months (Rhondda 
Cynon Taf CBC) 

April 2015 to March 2016 24.12% 

April 2016 to March 2017 20.53% 

Reduction of: 3.59% 

Page 68



26 
 

Percentage of referrals that are re-referrals within 12 months (Merthyr Tydfil CBC) 

April 2015 to March 2016 1.02% 

April 2016 to March 2017 1.45% 

Increase of 0.43% 

 
Due to current differences in the process between RCT and Merthyr Children services 
assessments, direct comparisons of the above data would not produce any meaningful 
outcomes. 
 

REDUCTION OF REPEAT REFERRALS (ADULTS) 
 
The percentage of repeat reports for Adult Safeguarding in RCT CBC has 
increased by over 5% compared to 2015/16 performance data (from 38% to 
43.7%). For MT this percentage has increased by 3% (from 19% to 22%). The 
increase is due to differing concerns relating to Adults at Risk which are often 
complex and require safeguarding intervention.  
 
DAILY DOMESTIC ABUSE DISCUSSIONS IN MASH 
 
In September 2015 the MASH introduced daily domestic abuse multi- agency 
strategy discussions in Cwm Taf. Information sharing and early intervention 
measures take place at these discussions, allowing agencies an opportunity to 
discuss associated child protection and adult protection issues. This is proving to 
be a more efficient way of working for agencies in terms of time saved, improved 
response times, and better risk management, with one strategy discussion being 
held as opposed to separate meetings.  
 
Over 70 discussions take place on average each month in Cwm Taf. We believe 
that this activity is not replicated elsewhere in Wales. The figures for the daily 
discussions are as follows: 
 

 MT RCT Totals 

2015/16 (commenced Sept) 111 375 486 

2016/17 221 627 848 

 
Formal MARAC meetings continue to take place for the majority of these cases, 
however these meetings are now more succinct due to key decisions and actions 
having already been agreed and/or implemented during the daily discussions.  
 
National data has demonstrated that in Cwm Taf the number of cases discussed 
at MARAC has increased from 707 in 2015/16 to 758 in 2016/17. However the 
number of repeat cases was considerably lower than the national figure of 25% in 
2015/16 at 14% for RCT and 14% in Merthyr Tydfil. Similarly, in 2016/17, this has 

Page 69



27 
 

reduced further to 12% in RCT and 14% in Merthyr Tydfil, with the national figure 
being 26%. These figures are also considerably lower in comparison to the Safe 
Lives (the national charity dedicated to ending domestic abuse) recommended 
figure of 28% - 40% in each year.  
 
MARAC is also now supported via the Drive project which is aimed at identifying 
the Perpetrators of High Risk Domestic Violence Victims and to put a case 
management plan in place with the aim to work with both victim and perpetrator to 
stop further instances of domestic violence.  
 
 
CWM TAF MASH CASE STUDIES 
 
Child Case Study  

 
 Referral in to MASH regarding concern for two young children as their 

Mother was experiencing mental health issues and hearing voices telling 
her to harm one of the children. 

 
 Multi-agency information shared within a few hours and revealed that there 

were also domestic abuse concerns and previous child protection 
proceedings relating to neglect and poor home conditions. 

 
 The MASH strategy discussion involved Health partners and conference 

calls to Community Mental Health Team to discuss a diagnosis for mother. 
Contact was also made with a neighbouring local authority as there was 
previous relevant family involvement. 

 
 Section 47 Child Protection procedures commenced to prioritise immediate 

safeguarding arrangements for children. 
 
Adult Case Study 
 
 Disclosure made via a Children Services visit that the child's Mother was 

sexually abused as a child by both her father and uncle. 
 
 MASH Children Services informed MASH Adult Services about the 

disclosure and multi-agency information sharing commenced immediately. 
 

 Support for the Adult victim of the abuse was put in place along with 
safeguarding arrangements for the grandchild of the Adult victim, who until 
this point had regular contact with one of the abuse perpetrators. 
 

 Criminal investigation commenced early on in the process, with perpetrators 
arrested and proceedings ongoing. 

 
Domestic Abuse Case Study 
 

Page 70



28 
 

 Victim of domestic abuse was subjected to ongoing stalking and 
harassment from her ex-partner. The Victim was also a client of Adult 
Services and had ongoing support needs. 

 
 Information shared in MASH including new Police information that the 

perpetrator had previous convictions including possession of weapons and 
several offences of harassment.  
 

 The Perpetrator had absconded to another area in England so the Police 
for that area were contacted and intelligence shared with them. 
 

 The case was discussed at the daily domestic abuse discussion and 
referred to MARAC. By the time the MARAC meeting took place the 
perpetrator had been located and arrested and the Victim continued to be 
supported by both Adult Services and the IDVA service. 
 

 Due to the dynamic way in which MARAC is now dealt with in Cwm Taf the 
victim intervention from support services took place within 24 hours and a 
prompt response from law enforcement services resulted in the perpetrator 
being arrested within the normal timeframe that a conventional case would 
have been heard through the traditional MARAC route. 
 

 
PARTNER CONSULTATION 
 
In 2015 and 2016 individuals representing a range of partner agencies were 
invited to participate in a consultation survey to assess their understanding and 
perceptions of the MASH. This survey has been repeated for a third time in 2017, 
and responses from the latest consultation survey demonstrate that most 
respondents feel that the MASH has made a positive difference to safeguarding in 
Cwm Taf. Key conclusions are noted below (from a total of 91 responses): 
 
 94% feel that MASH has improved safeguarding in Cwm Taf, compared to 

87% in the previous year's survey 
 
 83% of 91 respondents feel that information sharing is effective 

 
 82% of 91 respondents feel that risk management between agencies is 

effective 
 
 

iv. What is left to do in relation to the MASH? 
 
The ongoing review and development of the MASH is being driven via the MASH 
Executive Board on behalf of the Cwm Taf Safeguarding Board. In 2017/18 further 
work will be undertaken to further streamline the work of the MASH. A review will 
be carried out to explore how the administration of the MASH safeguarding 
process can be combined to provide greater resilience, common processes and 
more consistent thresholding of risk. 

 

Page 71



29 
 

 
 
 

Joint Safeguarding Functions 
Many of the achievements of the Board have been beneficial to both children and 
adults at risk. The Board continues to seek opportunities to improve safeguarding 
for all ages and there have been a number of joint initiatives taking place over the 
past year. 

 
 

i. What Did We Aim to Achieve in 2016/17  
 
In relation to safeguarding functions relevant to both children and adults, the Board 
identified the following priority outcomes for 2016/17: 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
. 

 
 
 

ii. Engagement, Participation and Communication 
 
The Board is required to actively seek opportunities to raise awareness of 
safeguarding and for children, young people and adults to have opportunities to 
participate in the work of the Board. 
 
In pursuance of this, the Board has developed a Communications Strategy and a 
supporting Participation Strategy to provide a framework to deliver this important 
function. Activities and events held during the year included: 

 
 The creation of an Engagement, Participation and Communication Sub 

Group  
 Participation included as standard item on the Board agenda 
 A review has been carried out of the CTSB website by young people in 

Merthyr. 
 Children and young people helped to design promotional items for 

Safeguarding Week 2016. 

The Board is proactive in engaging with its communities and children, young people and  
adults are given the opportunity to participate in the work of the Board. 
 

The Board ensures that safeguarding inter-agency training and dissemination of learning and 
research is used to support a more confident and knowledgeable multi agency workforce. 
 

The Board actively pursues opportunities for collaborative working with other agencies, 
partnerships and boards to support the pursuance of it objectives 
 

Page 72



30 
 

 Spectacle interactive theatre session for children and young people 
around Safeguarding Awareness – designed by children and young 
people for Safeguarding Week. 

 Service Users from RCT People’s First designed an accessible leaflet 
for adult safeguarding. 

 Children and young people designed a leaflet around reporting 
concerns. 

In 2016 the Board hosted its second Safeguarding Week. Over 40 agencies 
across Cwm Taf worked in collaboration to deliver a total of 72 events during the 
week, of which over a third were public events involving children, young people 
and adults. 
 
Agencies held a variety of events to engage the public and professionals including: 
 
 Scam awareness 
 Cyber security 
 CSE learning event 
 Hate crime awareness 
 Domestic violence advice 
 Deprivation of liberty and safeguarding/mental health act 
 LGBT 
 Mental health awareness 
 Alcohol awareness 
 Healthy relationships 
 Extremism workshops  

 
 
iii. Training and Learning  
 
The Board is required to ensure that practitioners in the area are receiving or have 
access to safeguarding training to support a more confident and knowledgeable 
multi agency workforce. 
 
During 2016/17, the local authority Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce Development 
Partnership delivered 113 safeguarding children related courses to 1,833 delegates 
across 14 different agencies. There were 21 safeguarding adults training courses 
delivered during the year, attended by 320 people from 7 different agencies. In 
addition, DoLS and Mental Capacity Act training was delivered to 179 people across 
Cwm Taf. 
 
The Board hosted one Multi-Agency Practitioner Forum event for a case involving a 
child. The learning identified included: 
 
 Practitioners need to develop skills in working with hostile families 
 An effective case transfer system needs to be in place when there is a 

change of worker 
 The need to escalate cases when risks are not being reduced and the 

importance of supervision to staff to manage these cases  

Page 73



31 
 

 
One Practitioner Feedback event was held in relation to 2 adults. Learning shared 
included: 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
iv. Collaboration with other Agencies, Partnerships and Boards 
 
The Board has been proactive in collaborating and consulting with other agencies, 
partnerships and Boards during 2016/17.  

  
Other Safeguarding Boards 
 
There is a well established network in place across Wales to share learning, good 
practice and all-Wales initiatives. This includes bi-monthly Regional Business 
Managers meetings with Welsh Government and working jointly to deliver the 
annual National Safeguarding Week. 
 
An agreement has been reached with the other regional Safeguarding Boards in 
Wales to share published Child and Adult Practice Review to share learning and 
more joint initiatives are planned in the coming year. 
 
Requests for information and participation in the Adult Practice Reviews and the 
Immediate Response Group have involved collaborating with some Safeguarding 
Boards in England, including Staffordshire, Milton Keynes, Dorset and Leicester. 

 
Cwm Taf MASH has worked in partnership with the new Cardiff MASH, providing 
guidance and support to Cardiff MASH during the implementation of the multi-
agency information sharing system (MHub) and liaising jointly with the system 
supplier and agency ICT departments. 
 
Other visitors to the MASH have included Waltham Forest Council and the 
Metropolitan Police who spent two days observing the MASH to make 
improvements to their own MASH structure. 
 
Other Partnerships 
 
Public Service Board (PSB) - the Board continues to make links with the PSB via the 
Co-Chairs of the CTSB and a reporting process. 
 
Community Safety Partnership (CSP) - to manage the safeguarding aspect of the 
Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence Strategy, the Board 

The importance of good record keeping 
 

The need for the correct application of the Mental Capacity Act 
 
 

Timely interventions should be sought to enable safe care planning and delivery 
 

Page 74



32 
 

ensures that there is representation on this Steering Group. In addition, the 
Safeguarding Business Unit has supported the co-ordination of a Domestic 
Homicide Review on behalf of the CSP. 
 
Together for Mental Health - representation on this partnership by the CTSB and 
Board members' involvement in the associated work streams.  
 
Welsh Government 
 
The Board has collaborated with the Welsh Government via the Regional Business 
Managers meetings, consultations and participation in other groups such as the 
CSE Task Group.  
  
Cwm Taf MASH also hosted a visit from Carl Sargeant AM (Cabinet Secretary for 
Communities and Children) in November 2016. Mr Sargeant wrote to the MASH 
following his visit and remarked: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
National Independent Safeguarding Board 
 
The Cwm Taf representative from the National Independent Safeguarding Board 
attends CTSB meetings and acts as a point of contact in relation to the national 
approach to safeguarding. 
 
Local Authority Public Protection  
 
A collaborative approach was agreed with local authority Trading Standards 
colleagues to prevent and protect vulnerable residents from financial harm causes 
through telephone 'Scams'. 
 
 
Children's Commissioner 
 
A response provided in relation to queries relating to Achieving Best Evidence 
interviewing and the current practice in Cwm Taf. There is also Cwm Taf 
representation on the Children's Commissioner Round Table meetings. 
 
 
 
 
 

I found the visit very informative and was impressed with the commitment and co-
ordination between agencies and partners involved. Safeguarding is a priority of the 

Welsh Government and my visit demonstrated the benefits of a single point of 
access for all safeguarding concerns to maximise the combined knowledge of multi-

agencies to keep children and vulnerable adults safe from risk of harm. 
 

Page 75



33 
 

 
 
 
 
v. Protocols and Procedures 

 
The Board encourages the development of joint approaches to safeguarding 
across children and adults. In 2016/17 the following joint protocols were 
developed: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

vi. Holding Agencies to Account 
 

The Board continues to review the effectiveness of measures taken by partners and 
other bodies in relation to safeguarding via quality assurance, audits and 
performance management. All the required statutory partner agencies in Cwm Taf 
are represented on the Board, Operational Committees and Sub Groups and 
attendance is monitored at these meetings.  
 
Between April 2016 and March 2017, there were four Board meetings held. 
Attendance by each of the partner agencies was as follows: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Resolving Concerns About Inter-Agency Safeguarding Practice - supports 
practitioners in finding a resolution when they have a professional disagreement or 
concern. Monitoring data will be made available in the 2017/18 Annual Report. 
 

Disclosure of Childhood Abuse by a Person who is now an Adult - provides 
guidance to practitioners to respond appropriately when adults disclose abuse that they 
experienced as a child 
 

Protocol for the Immediate Response to Critical Incidents - to provide support to 
manage the consequences of critical incidents in Cwm Taf in order to ensure that those 
who are affected, including friends, family, professionals and the wider community, are 
effectively supported 
 

Page 76



34 
 

 
 
 
 

 AGENCY PERCENTAGE ATTENDANCE 

RCT Children Services 100% 

RCT Adult Services 100% 

RCT Housing/Public Protection 75% 

RCT Education 100% 

Merthyr Tydfil Children Services 100% 

Merthyr Tydfil Adult Services 100% 

Merthyr Tydfil Housing/Public 
Protection 

50% 

Merthyr Tydfil Education 0% 

Cwm Taf University Health Board 100% 

South Wales Police 100% 

National Probation Service 100% 

Wales Community Rehabilitation 
Company 

50% 

Third Sector 100% 

Cwm Taf Youth Offending Service 25% 

Public Health Wales 50% 

Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust 25% 

National Independent Safeguarding 
Board 

75% 

 
 
Individual agencies are requested to report to the Board on the outcome of internal 
agency reviews and inspections to support effective challenge at a multi-agency 
strategic level. In 2016/17, this included: 

 
 CSSIW Inspection of Safeguarding in Rhondda Cynon Taf 
 HM Inspection Report - Probation 

Page 77



35 
 

 South Wales Police Internal Vulnerability Inspections 
 Cwm Taf University Health Board Quality Outcome Framework 
 Public Health Wales Audit of CP Medicals 

The specific responsibilities of the partners during the year were as follows: 
 
 Cwm Taf UHB: 

o Chair of the Children's Operational Committee 
o Chair of the Challenging Cases Group 
o Member of Complaints Panel x 2 
o Champion for the Prevention of Suicide and Self Harm 
o Chair of the Adult Review Group 

 
 MTCBC 

o Chair of Protocols and Procedures Group 
o Co-Chair of the Board 
o Co-Chair of the MASH Executive Group 
o Chair of CSE Task Group and CSE Champion 
o Independent Chair of Adult Practice Review Panel 
o 2 x Independent Reviewers for Adult Practice Reviews 
o Member of Complaints Panel x 2 
o Neglect Champion 
o Chair of the DOLS Operational Committee 

 
 RCTCBC 

o Chair of Children's Quality Assurance Sub Group 
o Chair of the Adults Quality Assurance Sub Group 
o Chair of the Adults Operational Committee 
o Chair of Engagement, Participation and Communications Sub 

Group 
o Co-Chair of the Board 
o Host of the CTSB Business Unit 
o 2 x Independent Reviewers for Adult Practice Reviews 
o Independent Chair of Adult Practice Review Panel 
o Champion for Children Looked After 

 
 South Wales Police 

o Chair of the Training and Learning Group (until January 2017) 
o Chair of the MASH Operational Committee 

 
 Cwm Taf Youth Offending Service: 

o Chair of the Training and Learning Group (from February 2017) 
o Independent Chair of a Multi Agency Practitioner Forum Panel 
o Member of Complaints Panel x 2 

 
 National Probation Service 

o Member of Complaints Panel x 2 
 

 Voluntary Sector 
o Chair of the CRG 

Page 78



36 
 

o Public Health Wales 2 x Independent Reviewers for Adult Practice 
Reviews 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Managing Our Resources in 2016/17 
 
In 2016/17 the Board agreed a funding formula for all statutory partners to contribute  
to the costs of managing the business of the Board. This enabled the Business Unit 
to increase its staffing capacity to support the functions of the Board. It has also 
supported the purchase of promotional materials and the hosting of events to raise 
awareness and share learning.  
 
 
 

Priorities for 2017/18 
  
In January 2017 the Children and Adults Boards held their second joint 
Development Day to identify the achievements of the Board in 2016/17 and to 
evaluate and agree the priorities for 2017/18. 
 
These priorities have been agreed based on identified areas for development and 
improvement, taking into consideration emerging themes and statutory 
requirements. These have been incorporated into the Board's Annual Plan for 
2017/18 which can be found at www.cwmtafsafeguarding.org or by contacting the 
Safeguarding Business Unit on 01443 484523. 

 
 

  

Page 79

http://www.cwmtafsafeguarding.org/


37 
 

Are You Concerned About Someone? 
If you suspect that a child or young person is being harmed or is at risk of being 
harmed then you have a duty to report it immediately. All calls concerning worries 
about children are treated seriously.  Contact your local Safeguarding Team on the 
numbers provided below: 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
If you suspect that an adult is being harmed or is at risk of being harmed then you 
have a duty to report it immediately. All calls concerning worries about vulnerable 
adults at risk are treated seriously.  Contact your local Safeguarding Team on the 
numbers provided below: 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
To contact Children or Adults Services outside office hours, at weekends and bank 
holidays, ring Cwm Taf Emergency Duty Team on 01443 743665. 
 
If you suspect that a child, young person or an adult is at immediate risk of 
harm call 999 and speak to the Police. 
 
If you would like to report a non-urgent incident, or have a problem or general query, 
you can call 101, the 24 hour non-emergency number for the police.  
Use 101 when the incident is less urgent than 999.  
  
Remember - safeguarding is everyone's business! 
 
For more information and advice visit: www.cwmtafsafeguarding.org 
 
 
 
 

In Rhondda Cynon Taf:  01443 425006 
In Merthyr Tydfil:  01685 725000 
  
Opening Hours: 
Monday - Thursday 8.30am - 5.00pm 
Friday - 8.30am - 4.30pm 
 

In Rhondda Cynon Taf:  01443 425003 
In Merthyr Tydfil:  01685 725000 
  
Opening Hours: 
Monday - Thursday 8.30am - 5.00pm 
Friday - 8.30am - 4.30pm 
 

Page 80

http://www.cwmtafsafeguarding.org/


38 
 

Glossary of Terms 
 
Achieving Best Evidence 
Good practice in interviewing victims and witnesses, and in preparing them to 
give their best evidence in court   
 
Assessment Tool for Neglect   
Helps professionals measure the quality of care being given to a child 
 
Child Sexual Exploitation   
Child sexual exploitation (CSE) is a type of sexual abuse. Children in 
exploitative situations and relationships receive something such as gifts, 
money or affection as a result of performing sexual activities or others 
performing sexual activities on them. 
 
Children Looked After    
A child is looked after by a local authority if a court has granted a care order 
to place a child in care, or a council’s children’s services department has 
cared for the child for more than 24 hours. 
 
Children's Commissioner   
The Children's Commissioner in Wales works for children and young people 
in Wales under 18, or 25 years old if they have been in 
care www.childcomwales.org  
 
Community Safety Partnership 
Statutory partnership to develop and implement strategies to tackle crime and 
disorder including anti-social and other behaviour adversely affecting the local 
environment. 
 
Critical Incident    
An event, or series of events; 
 
 Where an immediate effective response requires multi-agency co-

ordination to manage threat, risk and harm; and  
 
 it is sudden and unexpected; and 

 
 it has resulted in (or could have caused) death, life threatening injury or 

sustained serious and permanent impairment of health or development; 
and 

 
 it impacts on a group of individuals and / or the wider community. 

 

Page 81

https://www.nspcc.org.uk/preventing-abuse/child-abuse-and-neglect/child-sexual-abuse/
http://www.childcomwales.org/


39 
 

 
DEWIS  
A website which holds information about well-being in 
Wales www.dewis.wales  
    
Domestic Homicide Review   
A Domestic Homicide Review (DHR) is a locally conducted multi-agency 
review of the circumstances in which the death of a person aged 16 or over 
has, or appears to have, resulted from violence, abuse or neglect by: 
 a person to whom he or she was related, or with whom he or she was 

or had been in an intimate personal relationship; or, 
 a member of the same household as himself or herself. 

 
Floating Support   
A free service that provides housing-related support to vulnerable people for 
short periods of time from a few weeks up to two years 
  
IDVA Service 
Independent Domestic Violence Advisors who address the safety of victims at 
high risk of harm from intimate partners, ex-partners or family members to 
secure their safety and the safety of their children. 
 
Kinship Carers    
Kinship Care is an arrangement where a child who cannot be cared for by 
their parent(s) goes to live with a relative or a family friend. 
 
MARAC     
A monthly risk management meeting where professionals share information 
on high risk cases of domestic violence and abuse and put in place a risk 
management plan. 
 
National Independent Safeguarding Board  
Provides support and advice to safeguarding boards and reports on the 
adequacy and effectiveness of arrangements to safeguard children and adults 
in Wales 
    
Public Service Board    
Improves the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being in its 
area by strengthening joint working across all public services in 
Wales www.ourcwmtaf.wales  
 
Repeat Referrals    
Referrals that are made within a defined timescale (usually 12 months) 
following an earlier referral. 
 
 

Page 82

http://www.dewis.wales/
http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/


40 
 

Safe Lives 
A national charity dedicated to ending domestic abuse for 
good www.safelives.org.uk  
 
Section 47   
Under Section 47 of the Children Act 1989, if a child is taken into Police 
Protection, is the subject of an Emergency Protection Order or there are 
reasonable grounds to suspect that a child is suffering or is likely to suffer 
Significant Harm, a Section 47 Enquiry is initiated. This is to enable the local 
authority to decide whether they need to take any further action to safeguard 
and promote the child’s welfare. 
  
SERAF     
Sexual Exploitation Risk Assessment Framework - draws on evidenced 
sexual exploitation vulnerabilities and risk indicators. 
 
Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014 
The Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act is the law for improving the 
well-being of people who need care and support, and carers who need 
support. 
 
Strategy Meeting    
A meeting for social workers and other professionals to plan what they are 
going to do next about a case. 
 
Supervisory Bodies    
The supervisory body is the local authority or local health board that is 
responsible for considering a deprivation of liberty request, commissioning the 
statutory assessments and, where all the assessments agree, authorising 
deprivation of liberty. 
 
Talk to Me 2    
The Welsh Government's strategy and action plan to reduce suicide and self 
harm in Wales 
  

Page 83

http://www.safelives.org.uk/
http://trixresources.proceduresonline.com/nat_key/keywords/police_protection.html
http://trixresources.proceduresonline.com/nat_key/keywords/police_protection.html
http://trixresources.proceduresonline.com/nat_key/keywords/emerge_prot_order.html
http://trixresources.proceduresonline.com/nat_key/keywords/significant_harm.html


41 
 

TITLE AGENCY 

Director of Community and Children’s 
Services  
(Co-Chair)  
Head Of Community Housing Services  
Adult Safeguarding Service Manager  
Service Director, Adult Services 
Head of Safeguarding and Support 
(Children) 
Temporary Director for Education and 
Lifelong Learning 
Service Director, Children Services 
Head of Legal - Community Care and 
Children 

Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough 
Council 

Chief Officer for Social Services (Co-Chair)  
Safeguarding Principal Manager 
Chief Officer Community Regeneration 
Head of Service (Learning)  
Head of Children Services 
Head of Adult Services 
Head of Legal and Governance 

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 
 

Director of Nursing, Midwifery and Patient  
Services 
Head of Safeguarding 

Cwm Taf University Health Board 
 

Superintendent 
Independent Protecting Vulnerable Person 
Manager 

South Wales Police 

Assistant Chief Officer National Probation Service 
Assistant Chief Executive Wales Community Rehabilitation Company 
Chief Officer Voluntary Action Merthyr Tydfil 
CTSB Business Manager Cwm Taf Safeguarding Boards Business 

Unit 
Head of Service Cwm Taf Youth Offending Service 
Director / Interlink Chair TEDS (Treatment and Education Drug 

Service) 
Designated Nurse (National Safeguarding 
Team) 

Public Health Wales 

Page 84



42 
 

APPENDIX 1 - BOARD MEMBERSHIP    
 

Assistant Director for Quality, Safety and 
Patient Experience 

Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust 

Board Member National Independent Safeguarding Board 

Page 85



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

CWM TAF SAFEGUARDING BOARD 
 

 
MASH Operational 

Committee  
 
 

 
DoLS QA Sub 

Group 

 
MASH Executive 

Board 
 
 

 
Children Operational 

Committee 
 

 
Adults Operational 

Committee 

Deprivation of 
Liberty Safeguards 
(DoLS) Operational 

Committee 

 
Adult Review 
Group (ARG) 

 
Child Review 
Group (CRG) 

 
Protocols & Procedures Sub 

Group 

 
Training & Learning Sub 

Group 

 
Engagement Participation 
& Communications Sub 

Group 

 
Adult Quality 
Assurance 
Sub Group 

(AQA) 
 

Children 
Quality 

Assurance Sub 
Group (QASG) 

 
MASH Sub 

Group 

APPENDIX 2 - BOARD 
STRUCTURE 

P
age 86



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Pilot Community Zone – Update 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 The purpose of the report is to update scrutiny on the progress of the Cwm Taff 
Community Zone approach being led through the Public Service Board. The report 
also outlines some of the key challenges faced with developing this agenda. 

1.2 In contributing to the planning of this agenda a number of areas of work within the 
Communities First have been required to be addressed in order to develop the future 
direction of travel.

1.3 Currently there is still no resource available through Welsh Government aligned to 
the Childrens First initiative and therefore the development of this agenda is reliant 
upon partners and the council being prepared to reshape funding and services in line 
with the needs identified by the community. 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1 Scrutiny to debate the contents of the report and note the reliance on partners’ 
involvement at both a strategic and operational level to the development of this 
agenda 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 Scrutiny has requested that a report be brought forward on the development of the 
Community Zone or Childrens First concept introduced by Welsh Government.  In 

Date Written 18th October 2017 
Report Author Chris Hole 
Service Area Community Wellbeing 
Committee Date 7th November 2017

Page 87

Agenda Item 6



responding to the concept Cwm Taff agreed to develop and submit a proposal to 
Welsh Government. This report outlines the progress to date on the introduction of 
this concept. 

4.0 WHERE WE WERE 

4.1 On 11th October 2016, the Cabinet Secretary for Children and Communities shared 
his ambition for resilient communities and invited organisations to express an interest 
in developing Children’s Zones in Wales. Now nationally termed Childrens First, this 
approach remains a place based approach, bringing together different organisations 
to improve outcomes for children and young people. The aim is that through a 
shared strategic vision, long-term sustainable reductions are achieved in the 
inequalities experienced by children in disadvantaged communities when compared 
to those in more socially advantaged areas.

4.2 In the Strategic Partnership Board on the 3rd November 2016 it was advised that the 
Public Service Board (PSB) had agreed that a joint expression of interest across 
Cwm Taff be submitted.  A Cwm Taff working group developed a paper over several 
weeks and submitted the draft paper for the Public Service Board to consider on the 
26th January 2017.  

4.3 Cwm Taff was successful in its initial application to Welsh Government and was 
therefore invited to submit a formal proposal providing greater detail which is 
attached in appendix 1.  This submission was again progressed through a sub group 
of the Strategic Partnership board and submitted to Welsh Government in May 2017. 
In June 2017 WG announced that 5 Pioneer areas were approved and that Cwm Taff 
was one of the five.   

4.4 In tandem with the timeline above from concept through to approval Merthyr Tydfil 
CBC received a report on the 25th January 2017 outlining the proposals and concept. 
This report agreed that the Pilot Community Zone be the Gurnos, with the council 
acting as the Anchor organisation. The report also agreed the strategic outcomes 
being sought which were in line with corporate priorities. Importantly the report also 
highlighted  that both Local Authorities felt they did not have the capacity to take 
forward a new initiative without some support from Welsh Government  on the 
following key areas:  

 Research & Evaluation – professional support to develop the outcome
and evaluation framework maybe required.

 Community Presence – the Community Zone will need to have a
physical presence within the community. This physical asset will need
to be identified and may require investment to make it fit for purpose.

 Community Engagement & Involvement – this will require Community
Engagement Officers based in both Zones.

 Coordination & Administrative Support – to manage and support the
development and implementation of the proposed approach.

Page 88



5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW 

5.1 No commitment has yet been made by Welsh Government to invest in this approach 
and discussions with WG officials have stressed that this pilot initiative is not the 
same or a replacement for the Community First programme. The approach will 
require a multi-agency approach and for partners to review the focus and use of their 
resources within the community to improve outcomes. Currently within Merthyr Tydfil 
there is no resource to focus on this agenda and this is currently being developed by 
the Head of Community Wellbeing. 

5.2 At its meeting on 11th August 2017, the Cwm Taf Strategic Partnership Board 
decided to set up an implementation group to take this work forward and move 
theory into practice. This group is led by Paul Mee Service Director for Rhondda 
Cynon Taff.  The first meeting of this group took place in late September and has 
recently agreed to undertake a consultation event within the two Community Zone 
areas structuring the conversation around what matters to the community. These 
consultation events are aimed to be the first step in involving the community more in 
setting the strategic direction for the community zone. 
   

5.3 Whilst the above has been taking place there has been the need to progress the 
closing down of the Communities First programme.  There are several areas of 
overlap between the closing down of this programme and the support needs 
identified 4.4 above when planning for the future Community Zone.

5.3.1 Community Facilities – work has been ongoing to identify strategically 
important facilities across the local authority in order to be able to support 
any third sector applications made to Welsh Governments Community 
Facilities Programme.  A draft of the assessment and report has been 
reviewed by the Communities First Transitional board and it is intended that 
this assessment and recommendations be submitted within the next month.
 

5.3.2 Community Consultation - In partnership with the Wales Council for 
Voluntary Action a consultation has been taking place with focus groups 
and through a survey across the Local Authority. However to date the take 
up of the survey has been poor.  The outcomes of this consultation will be 
viewed in conjunction with the priorities within the Wellbeing Statement and 
the Families First consultation in order to inform the priorities of the Legacy 
arrangements.  

5.3.3 Legacy Arrangements – It should be noted that the Legacy funding is 
available not solely to continue Communities First programmes but also to 
develop new services. This is an area of guidance which has changed from 
the initial messages provided by Welsh Government. However the funding 
for the Local Authority will be £377,000 for the next two years, with no 
future guarantees of continuation funding. Therefore how the LA chooses to 
use this funding will be critical and needs to consider immediate short term 
delivery and longer term strategies to support the development of 
communities and improve community resilience.

5.3.4 Employability Grant - An application to Welsh Government has been made 
for additional resources in order to take forward this agenda, however 
confirmation is still awaited. Without this resource the agenda will not be 

Page 89



progressed until April 2018.  Critical within this employability focused 
programme are the support posts which are meant to engage community 
members and assist them in developing the confidence and skills to enter 
an employment focused programme. It has been agreed with Economic 
Development that the Communities 4 Work programme and the new 
employability programme will remain located within the current co-located 
facility. 

6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE 

6.1 The lead department will be proposing that a proportion of the legacy funding be 
used to fund a post to take forward the Community Zone initiative without which 
progress is going to be extremely limited. The intention is that elected members will 
be able to agree the use of the legacy funding by the end of November at the latest. 

6.2 A key focus of the Community resilience agenda is the community themselves 
leading on the issues they face and taking an active role in constructing the 
solutions. An extensive community development role is required to generate the 
community’s involvement and ownership of this agenda otherwise this becomes a 
very top down approach.  Some priorities will be identified through the consultations 
currently underway and through previous Families First consultations. However a 
specific Community Zone consultation is scheduled for week commencing 27th 
November. The regional partnership intend using the outcomes of this event to 
contribute to the future direction of travel within the regional Community Zone 
approach. 

6.3 A local partnership needs to be established focused solely on the community of the 
Gurnos to consider both the strategic issues and the local priorities that the 
community identifies. This will include partners reviewing and collaborating on future 
service delivery across the area which may require services to be flexible or to 
change their approach to service delivery.

7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT 

7.1 Further to the community consultation event which is aimed at residents, partners 
working across the Gurnos will be invited to participate in an information day to 
develop common understanding on both the Community Zone proposal and how this 
links with the Childrens First concept put forward by Welsh Government. The group 
will need to review the outcomes of the consultations and to begin to identify how 
they can develop the approach as this is not set out by the region or by Welsh 
Government. 

8.0 CONTRIBUTION TO WELLBEING OBJECTIVES

8.1 The development of the Community Zones concept will impact on almost all of the 
wellbeing objectives but its primary focus is the improved outcomes for children and 
young people as identified within Best Start to Life and Living Well. 

Page 90



Lisa Curtis Jones 
Chief Officer Social Services

Cllr David Hughes
PORTFOLIO social services

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Community Zone 
proposal

Communities First 
Update report  

Communities First Post 
June 

25th January 2017 

22nd March 2017

May 2017 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

no

Page 91



CWM TAF PUBLIC SERVICES BOARD

A CWM TAF COMMUNITY ZONE APPROACH TO BUILDING RESILIENT 
COMMUNITIES

1. Vision

“An integrated place-based approach to building resilient communities that prevents and 
mitigates the effects of adverse childhood experiences (ACEs) and breaks the 

intergenerational cycle of adversity which challenges so many families across Cwm Taf”.

2. How we will achieve our vision

To achieve this vision, we will organise ourselves as partner organisations more effectively 
through a single recognised approach known as “Community Zones”.

This single recognised approach will be piloted within the Gurnos and Upper Rhondda 
Fach areas and will consist of the following key components:

 Taking a whole community approach to better understand the role of the following 
factors in precipitating and modifying ACEs:

o The context in which families live
o Parent and family factors
o Household adversities

 A new prevention, early identification and intervention framework that enables 
individuals and families to access non-stigmatised support as early as possible to 
prevent problems from escalating. Identification of those requiring early intervention 
support will take place: 

o Pre-emptively through the application of Vulnerability and Resilience Profiling to 
identify families that have low levels of resilience and in need of support.  

o Pro-actively by self-identification at the point of access into specialist pathways 
of support e.g. anchor organisations, substance misuse services, housing, 
domestic abuse.

 A single point of contact (SPOC) for those requiring information, advice, support and 
intervention.

 A robust community engagement and involvement approach. This will include:

o Proactively engaging with individuals and families identified through Vulnerability 
and Resilience profiling, using a strengths-based approach.

o A co-production approach to listening to, and working with the community to 
develop community support and assist in the design and delivery of services. 

o Low level community based activities that facilitate community involvement 
and progression (early help).

Page 92



o Collaborative community action research and engagement through the 
Listening Project and SenseMaker.

 A suite of interventions to create an ACE-informed Cwm Taf – from low level 
community based activities through to more specialist/intensive interventions delivered 
through shared priorities and pooled resources across partners.

 A sustainable step down support pathway that embeds behaviour change. 

 A single shared outcome framework that creates a robust infrastructure for supporting 
the delivery of an outcome-focused approach and evidencing change. The outcomes 
will focus on:

o Reducing the incidence of Adverse Childhood Experiences
o Families and communities are confident, nurturing, resilient and safe
o Achieving good educational outcomes: (closing the inequality gap)
o Realising sufficient income and obtaining work that pays
o Achieving a thriving and healthy future (Wellbeing, active lifestyles) 

The following diagram encapsulates this system wide Community Zone model:

Figure 1: Cwm Taf Community Zone model

C
o
m
m
u
n
i
t
i
e
s

P
S
B

P
a
r
t
n
e
r
s

Continuous Engagement

Jointly Identify 
Needs

Agreed Outcomes 
to be met

Co-Produced Service 
Models

Evidence based 
interventions

Gurnos and Ferndale

Jointly Identify 
Existing Resources

Community 
Profiling

ACE Hub

Assets aligned including workforce, estate and finance

Prevention
Early

Intervention
Care and
support

Assessment

Page 93



3. Introduction

The purpose of this document is to outline Cwm Taf’s Public Services Boards proposed 
approach to the development, implementation and evaluation of two ‘Community Zone’ 
pilots within the Gurnos and Upper Rhondda Fach areas.

The approach/model draws on the experience and learning of a range of partners who have 
been working for the last 24 months to move towards a more integrated and sustainable 
approach to building resilient communities.

4. Background 

On 11th October 2016, the Cabinet Secretary for Children and Communities shared his 
ambition for resilient communities and invited organisations to express an interest in 
developing Children’s Zones in Wales. A Children’s Zone is a place-based approach, 
bringing together different organisations to improve outcomes for children and young 
people. The aim is that through a shared strategic vision, long-term sustainable reductions 
are achieved in the inequalities experienced by children in disadvantaged communities 
when compared to those in more socially advantaged areas. 

In response to this challenge from Welsh Government, the Cwm Taf Public Services Board 
(PSB) held a workshop on 25th November 2016 attended by representatives from the public 
and voluntary sector in Cwm Taf to explore place based partnership approaches and how 
they might be developed in Cwm Taf. The consensus was that an expression of interest be 
submitted to Welsh Government from the PSB, bringing all partners together in a 
coordinated regional approach.

It was also agreed that whilst any proposed approach would have tackling Adverse 
Childhood Experiences (ACEs) at its heart, the building of resilience to achieve sustainable 
change would require a whole-family approach. This whole-family approach would seek to 
tackle ACEs through building the resilience of the child at the same time as challenging and 
changing behaviours of parents or future parents. It was also felt that a resilient community 
required the engagement and investment of the whole community and as such any place-
based approach should be as inclusive as possible. It was therefore proposed that the 
approach would be to develop and pilot “Community Zones” in two recognisable 
communities in Cwm Taf.

5. Current situation

Currently there is a wide range of interventions and services delivered by both public and 
third sector services across these two areas; however much of this provision could be more 
effectively co-ordinated or organised. The lack of a single recognised approach across 
Cwm Taf lends itself to, at best, a duplication of effort and resources and, at worst, no 
provision at all for individuals and families in need. At present the main drivers for the 
delivery of support are legislative frameworks, grant funding criteria, existing commissioning 
arrangements and the current skill base of providers as opposed to the needs of families 
and communities across the region. 

In order to effectively remove these barriers, the Public Services Board seeks to 
fundamentally change the way in which it approaches this agenda by taking a broader view 

Page 94



of how all structures of public services and partners can be reconfigured and re-aligned. 
Individuals, families and communities should not miss out on much-needed help and 
support because of our differing thresholds, eligibility criteria, procedural mechanisms and 
priorities which are directed by prescriptive funding streams.

A single approach would enable us to maximise current resources and also ensure that 
there is a mechanism in place to oversee the consistent use of evidence-based approach. 

Furthermore, it is envisaged that the creation of “Community Zones” will support a number 
of the key challenges for our population that have emerged through Cwm Taf’s Well-being 
of Future Generation (Wales) Act need assessments. These can be grouped under the 
main headings of Frailty, Obesity, Inequality and Loss of Well-being. All organisations 
will relate to these system challenges, but the focus is on ACEs.

Figure 2: Key challenges

We know that each of these challenges create major difficulties for our population and 
create the demand for a range of services, and this will not disappear overnight.   However 
as laid down in the Well-being of Future Generations Act, there needs to be focus on 
addressing prevention and long term needs as well as developing more integrated and 
collaborative services in partnership with our population to tackle the current issues.

There are numerous ways that this could be approached but a key area that we know has 
strong links to each of these challenges and is extremely relevant to our communities is the 
issue of Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs). Those experiencing ACEs are more likely 
to experience family difficulties, be involved in violence and other antisocial behaviour and 
have poor educational attainment. However, adverse outcomes are not inevitable, but the 
risk increases with increasing exposure to ACEs. Conversely, preventing ACEs can 
improve outcomes greatly, that is why tackling and preventing ACEs has been put at the 
centre of our Community Zone approach.  

Page 95



6. Cwm Taf’s Proposed Community Zone Model

Our goal is to prevent and minimise the effect of Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) 
on individuals and families by organising ourselves as partner organisations more 
effectively through a single recognised approach called “Community Zones”. 

In order to achieve this, it is proposed that our Community Zone model consists of the 
following key elements that will form the basis of a pathway of support for individual, 
families and communities:

A whole community approach

Taking a whole community approach will seek to better understand and address the 
following, depending on the needs, strengths and challenges of each community:

• A focus on place: Understanding how all resources and assets in our community 
zones can be used to support wider determinants of health and well-being

• Context in which families live:  Understanding social isolation, increasing community 
co-ordination, mitigating the impact of poverty and increasing resilience.

• Parent & Family factors: Improving parental capacity, strengthening relationships and 
helping to prevent cycles of behaviour that encourage adverse outcomes across 
subsequent generations.

• Household adversities: Develop “an ACE-Informed Cwm Taf” - across our workforce, 
schools, communities, support services and public to understand the impact of ACEs.

The following diagram is an illustration of the determinants and intergenerational cycle of 
adverse childhood experiences within the context of a child’s environment, highlighting the 
challenges we aim to address.

Figure 3: Logic model for interventions around ACEs

Page 96



A prevention, early identification and intervention framework

The prevention, early identification and intervention framework creates a robust 
infrastructure upon which collective effort can be measured. Partners of all sizes and 
sectors will be challenged to fit into this approach which will be supported by a number of 
tools that will direct, support and regulate collaborative working. These tools will include 
formal contracts, clear referral pathways, shared paperwork, and effective impact 
measurement arrangements via a Shared Outcomes Framework.

The development of an early intervention framework will enable all partners to identify the 
contribution they make to this agenda, irrespective of how they are funded or where they 
are situated. The reconfiguration and realignment of services needs to be based on their 
key functions to create an effective and meaningful graduated response for communities 
to enable individuals and families to access support as early as possible to prevent 
problems from escalating. The framework is diagrammatically depicted in Figure 4, which 
shows the referral routes to access support, the assessment and brokerage mechanism 
and the continuum of support.  

Figure 4: Prevention, early identification and intervention framework

The pooling of budgets and resources will seek to facilitate this framework, with 
commissioning arrangements clearly focused on the commissioning of outcomes as part of 
the whole community picture rather than the commissioning of services or provision within 
the confines of individual funding streams. It is envisaged that this will serve to facilitate a 
common understanding between a range of public, private and voluntary sector partners of 
where their contribution sits in the wider context and the creation of a shared approach to 
delivering outcomes.

Page 97



Within this framework, the identification of individuals and families requiring early 
intervention services will take place:

o Pre-emptively through the application of Vulnerability and Resilience Profiling to 
identify families that have low levels of resilience and in need of support.  

o Pro-actively by self-identification at the point of access into specialist pathways 
of support e.g. anchor organisations (Hubs), substance misuse services, housing, 
domestic abuse. 

Through the use of the Vulnerability and Resilience Profiling process, pre-emptive 
identification will be data led to ensure we are in a position to swiftly identify families in need 
of support, yet are not known to services as a family, before they reach crisis point.

A single point of contact (SPOC)

At the centre of the Community Zone and early identification framework (Figure 4) will be a 
single point of contact for those requiring information, advice, support and intervention via 
the two identification routes outlined above. The SPOC will provide the central mechanism 
for co-ordinating interventions, assessing need/resilience, identifying the most relevant 
support pathway and brokering support for individuals and families to build their resilience.

It is envisaged that this central mechanism will remove the need to refer individuals and 
families between non statutory services delivering early intervention and prevention and the 
associated delays of organisational differences including prescriptive referral criteria and 
differing thresholds of intervention, and procedural delays such as case allocation. 

The reconfiguration of Team around the Family, combined with pooled partner resources, 
will create a dedicated team/hub to co-ordinate the single point of entry.

Community engagement and involvement

Effective community engagement and involvement will be critical to the success of this 
approach. This is based on how members of the community connect with each other, are 
engaged in local services, how services are commissioned and how outcomes are 
measured. A strength-based approach will be implemented to equip people with the skills 
and confidence to live successful, independent and fulfilling lives without the support of 
statutory services.

Specifically, community engagement and involvement will include:

 Using co-productive approaches (see Figure 5) to build individual and community 
assets, knowledge and capacity to address what matters in relation to preventing ACEs. 
We will help develop individual and community resilience by supporting the community 
to share and provide information, advice and guidance (IAG).  This includes promoting 
and providing access to relevant and up to date IAG through activities, programmes, 
venues, services and on line sources within the community to the whole population, 
including within schools, and when to refer to single points of contact to other public 
services when appropriate to do so.   

 Proactively engaging with individual and families identified through the early 
identification process and single point of contact. This might be through one-to-one 
mentoring and brokering support for someone as they visit an existing local specialist 
intervention for the first time; providing information and signposting, supporting them to 

Page 98



'step-up' or 'step-down' from a service as they move towards reaching their goal or 
assisting them to reconnect with their community, family and develop their self-
confidence through a range of low level community based activity.

 Low level community-based engagement activities/events which support the 
involvement of individuals, families and professionals to come together on an equal 
footing to contribute their time, skills, knowledge and resources to the area. These 
activities are also designed to support the involvement of service users in their 
community and play a part in the wider intervention pathway to improvement i.e. pre-
engagement, feeder or step up/step down activities.

 Co-production approach to listening to and working with the community to carry 
out a comprehensive profiling and service review to develop, design and deliver 
improved community services. 

 Collaborative community action research to support the community work with all 
partners to collect the experience of local people using the Listening Project 
underpinned by SenseMaker software. Interlink has been pioneering the use of this 
technology with communities in Cwm Taf over the last 18 months, specifically with older 
people, people experiencing mental ill health and in a placed based project in Porth. It is 
also currently being used by the Future Generations Commissioner.

The underpinning value of this community engagement and involvement approach will be 
one of putting the citizen at the centre to create resilience not dependency; with clear 
community pathways that supports and develops people to move from initial involvement 
and engagement to community governance within a cooperative structure that encourages 
collaboration and cooperation between citizens, community organisations and the public 
and private sectors. The following diagram describes this approach: 

Figure 5: Putting the citizen at the centre (O’Hara-Jakeway, 2017, Humanising Services 
and Building Communities,).

A suite of interventions to create an ACE- informed Cwm Taf 

Page 99



The suite of ACE interventions will be developed based on our local knowledge, evidence 
base, and initial engagement with those who live and work in our target communities. 
These interventions will form part of an effective and meaningful graduated response for 
people in need of support, as outlined in Figure 3 - from low level community based activity 
through to more specialist/intensive intervention.

By focusing on building the resilience of individuals, families and communities to deal 
with the challenges they face, interventions will be more meaningful, directive and effective. 
Pooled budgets and resources will support the development of bespoke services to meet 
need rather than forcing family’s needs into pre-designed ‘programmes’ that suit grant 
criteria or service thresholds. A shift to commissioning outcomes as opposed to 
commissioning provision will also serve to create and promote a culture of shared 
responsibility for, and a shared approach to, the delivery of outcomes. This co-ordination 
should provide intensity to the work we do which in turn would secure sustainable change.

A sustainable step down support pathway 

To embed behavioural change and sustain positive outcomes our model will include clear 
step down support pathways from interventions/services. As individuals and families move 
towards reaching their goal they will be assisted to reconnect with their community, family 
and develop their self-confidence through a range of low level community based activity. 
This low level community based activity will include peer support, group work activity, 
training, coaching and mentoring.

A single shared outcome framework

A single shared outcomes framework will creates a robust infrastructure to support the 
delivery of an outcome focused approach upon which collective effort can be measured 
across all partners. The outcomes focus on:

o Reducing the incidence of Adverse Childhood Experiences
o Families and communities are confident, nurturing, resilient and safe
o Achieving good educational outcomes: (closing the inequality gap)
o Realising sufficient income and obtaining work that pays
o Achieving a thriving and healthy future (well-being, active lifestyles)
o Evidencing change by developing and delivering  regular local survey of ACEs to 

provide neighbourhood data on baselines and prospective outcomes

Please see Appendix A for the shared outcomes framework which provides more detail in 
relation to priorities, population indicators and performance measures for each of these 
outcomes. 

This will also be supported by the development and delivery a regular local survey of ACEs 
to provide neighbourhood data on baselines and prospective outcomes. This will allow us to 
collect qualitative and quantitative information and to measure changes in perceptions at an 
individual and community level.  It will help us measure and evaluate the impact of the 
approach on the community in their own words.

By concentrating effort via a place based model with two of our areas of greatest need, it 
facilitates partnership working on a small enough scale to effectively trial and evaluate this 
new and innovative ways of working

Page 100



7. What support could we need to take this approach forward?

It is important that we do not try and anticipate what this model will look like prior to 
completion of the review and first engagement phase but initial discussions suggest the 
following support would be beneficial:

 Research & Evaluation – professional support to develop the outcome and evaluation 
framework exist within the partnership. However, funding to support the development 
and delivery of prospective evidence gathering (e.g. through periodic local surveys) and 
research would support capacity issues

 Community Presence – the Community Zone will need to have a physical presence 
within the community. Physical asset(s) will need to be identified and may require 
investment to make it fit for purpose.

 Community Engagement & Involvement – this is likely to require ‘Community 
Coordinators’ based in both Zones.  

 Coordination & Administrative Support – to manage and support the development 
and implementation of the proposed approach as well as data gathering and analysis for 
evaluation and research purposes.

 Long-term commitment – an acceptance that the aim is to build capacity and influence 
population indicators, inequalities and determinants of health & well-being that take a 
long time to change. A long term commitment is required from all partners.

 Resources – all organisations to commit resources (core and grant) to a shared 
approach. However, more flexibility in the way in which funding can be deployed to best 
effect would be of considerable help. This could be achieved by aligning resources to 
support people by:

o Providing the help they need when they need it 
o Providing early interventions to prevent problems in the first place
o Addressing issues well before they reach crisis point, when they place a 

considerable burden and cost across on a range of public services.

 Resources are required to support community activities / facilities that provide non-
stigmatised accessible universal services, and to support the contribution made by 
volunteers and community organisations. With change comes challenges and 
accountability, particularly in the work involved in harnessing the benefits of a more 
flexible funding stream, and to make the best possible use of public funding to deliver 
agreed outcomes. We recognise this and as a Public Services Board, we are 
committed to devoting the time and effort to ensure is a success. 

This proposed approach will be used as a proof of concept. If outcomes are successful the 
Public Services Board will explore how this model can be applied to other communities 
across Cwm Taf to meet their specific needs and challenges. 

Page 101



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Scrutiny Committee Work Programme

1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

1.1 To provide the Scrutiny Committee with its work programme for consideration and to 
prepare in advance of the next scrutiny committee meeting.

1.2 To remind scrutiny committee members that they need to consider the requirements 
of the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 in all aspects of scrutiny 
work.

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1 The Committee notes the content of this report

2.2 The Committee considers its work programme and approve, revise or amend it as 
deemed appropriate; and to consider the questions above in planning for the next 
meeting.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND
3.1 Scrutiny committees are required to prepare and keep under review a programme for 

their future work. By reviewing and prioritising issues, members are able to ensure 
that the work programme delivers a member-led agenda. 

3.2 At each meeting the committee will agree the agenda items for their next meeting 
and in preparation may in advance wish to ask itself the following questions.

Date Written 31st October 2017
Report Author Scrutiny Section
Service Area Legal & Governance Services
Committee Division Scrutiny 
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 7th November 2017

Page 103

Agenda Item 10



Q) Why has the item been placed on a scrutiny work programme?
a. Does this item/topic contribute to the delivery of the Council’s Wellbeing 

Objectives and priorities?
b. Is this item/topic relating to service performance concerns?
c. Is this item/topic of significant public interest?
d. Has the item/topic got budgetary implications?
e. Is this a item/topic where Scrutiny involvement will make a significant 

difference and achieve tangible outcomes?
f. Can effective Scrutiny of this issue be delivered from within available 

resources?

Q) What is the specific role of the committee?
           This will depend on the item – for example the role could be:

a. to determine if performance levels are acceptable in relation to a particular 
department

b. to determine if a specific policy is fit for purpose
c. to satisfy itself that the Authority is working well with its partners in tackling a 

major issue 
d. to gather the views of specific stakeholders as part of an on-going scrutiny 

investigation / review
e. to explore possible solutions to an issue

Q) What outcome is the committee seeking from the consideration of this 
item?

a. To comment on the proposed budget and make suggestions to cabinet 
regarding the proposed budget’s ability to deliver the priorities of the council 

b. Identification of any causes for concern and note successes.
c. To receive an overview presentation.
d. To gain an understanding of and to comment on a policy / strategy
e. To explore ideas around the setting of budgets while considering the 

pressures facing each service. This also helps provide an overview of the 
policy frame work. 

f. For the scrutiny committee to gain an overview and refresh their knowledge of 
the wellbeing objectives / other plan / other strategy.

g. Improvement in service delivery

Q) What information does the committee need to fulfil this role / achieve 
this outcome? 
What is the Committee trying to do? You might be trying to do some or all of 
the following i.e. establish facts; gather opinions; or explore new ideas / 
solutions.

Q) Who should be invited to the meeting to provide the information?
Depending on the information you need you might want to hear from a range 
of witnesses – e.g. Cabinet members, Senior Officers, Service users, and 
External partners – e.g. Police, Health Board etc

Q) Does the committee need to ask for written representations?
The Committee may wish to pose some questions to the Directorate / Cabinet 
member / External Partner etc prior to the meeting. This may help in instances 
when the committee is looking for something specific to be addressed. This 

Page 104



will assist whoever is attending ensure that they have the information / answer 
ready for the meeting. 

Q) Which meeting format / venue would be most appropriate for the item 
and for the witnesses that will be invited to attend?
Meetings do not have to be held in a formal committee room environment. 
You may wish to hold occasional meetings out in the community e.g. 
community centres, sports facilities etc. It depends on the subject. Some 
people find the formal setting intimidating. Site visits for example may be more 
appropriate to see first-hand what the committee is investigating / obtaining 
information on e.g. waste sites, regeneration projects etc.

The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (the Act)

3.3 The Act applied the wellbeing duty on local authorities. This duty means this Council 
has to work towards its wellbeing goals and is required to publish its Statement of 
Wellbeing, which sets out our local wellbeing objectives for the community over the 
next five years. 

The Authority’s “wellbeing objectives” seek to secure sustained improvements in the 
economic, social, cultural and environmental wellbeing of the people who live and 
work in Merthyr Tydfil, now and in the future. The focus is on supporting people when 
they need it most and equipping them with the skills they need to lead fulfilled lives.

In brief, the wellbeing objectives for Merthyr Tydfil cover four main groups:

Best Start to Life (Reported to Learning & LAESCYP Scrutiny Committee)
 BS1 Children get the best start to life. 
 BS2 Children and young people are equipped with the skills they need to be 

successful learners and confident individuals.

Working Life (Reported to Regeneration and Public Protection Scrutiny Committee)
 WL1 Making skills work for Merthyr Tydfil: Developing the workforce of the 

future. 
 WL2 Developing the environment and infrastructure for business to flourish.

Environmental Wellbeing (Reported to Neighbourhood Services Scrutiny 
Committee)

 EW1 Communities protect - enhance and promote our natural environment 
and countryside 

 EW2 Communities protect - develop and promote our heritage and cultural 
assets.

Living Well (reported to Social Services Scrutiny Committee)
 LW1 Developing safer communities. 
 LW2 People have good physical and mental wellbeing. 
 LW3 People live independently.

Page 105



3.4 The Act places a legal duty on public bodies to adopt the “sustainable development 
principle” when setting wellbeing objectives, and in taking steps to meet those 
objectives. 

Any reference to a public body doing something “in accordance with the sustainable 
development principle” means that the body must act in a manner which seeks to 
ensure that the needs of the present are met without compromising the ability of 
future generations to meet their own needs.

In the Act, the sustainable development principle is exemplified by the five ways of 
working i.e. there are five things that public bodies need to think about to show that 
they have applied the sustainable development principle. Following these ways of 
working will help us work together better, avoid repeating past mistakes and tackle 
some of the long term challenges we are facing. These “5 things” (ways of working) 
are shown below:-

1. Long term - The importance of balancing short-term needs with the need to 
safeguard the ability to also meet long-term needs (taking account of both 
short term and long term needs when making decisions.) 

2. Prevention - How acting to prevent problems occurring or getting worse may 
help public bodies meet their objectives (stop problems happening or getting 
worse)

3. Integration - Considering how the public body’s well-being objectives may 
impact upon each of the well-being goals, on their other objectives, or on the 
objectives of other public bodies (making sure that the objectives set by the 
council contribute to the wellbeing goals and there is an understanding of how 
they impact on other organisations work to meet the goals). There needs to be 
connections within the council, between departments, between cabinet 
members Who else within this organisation do we need to talk to ; to avoid 
wasted effort, duplication. What other pieces of legislation may affect, inform, 
impinge upon what we are seeking to address?

4. Collaboration - Acting in collaboration with any other person (or different 
parts of the body itself) that could help the body to meet its well-being 
objectives (working  with people inside and outside the council to meet your 
objectives when working towards the goals).

5. Involvement - The importance of involving people with an interest in 
achieving the wellbeing goals, and ensuring that those people reflect the 
diversity of the area which the body serves (make sure that everyone who has 
an interest or expertise in or is affected by achieving the goals are involved or 
represented).

3.5 Much of Scrutiny committee activity is aligned to the delivery of the wellbeing 
objectives and each scrutiny committee will be receiving regular performance reports 
on these areas. See appendix I which provides further details on this Authority’s 
wellbeing objectives.

Page 106



3.6 Scrutinising under the Act. The Act says that we have to dramatically change the 
way we do things. Not changing what we do but changing the way that we do it. This 
is difficult as many public sector organisations are entrenched in their approaches, in 
their activities and in their attitudes. In all scrutiny work members will need to 
consider the Act!

1. Applying the principles of the Act -  Scrutiny committees will have a 
responsibility to ensure that the principles of the Act are applied to policy and 
decision making in Merthyr

2. Contributing to the setting of the Wellbeing Objectives and the Well Being 
statement.

3. Monitoring progress against the Objectives and seeing if they are being 
met. 

4. Scrutiny of the PSB  - strategic and focussed on the work of the PSB as a 
whole (not its constituent members) either an existing scrutiny committee or a 
new one

5. By ensuring that the ways of working are followed in Merthyr Tydfil when 
undertaking 

 Pre-decision scrutiny (involvement of community in the decision making 
process?); 

 Policy development (how will this policy impact in people in 2030,40,50 
years?); 

 Performance monitoring (are there problems that can be prevented? 
Could performance be improved if we work with someone else?); and

 Investigative scrutiny (work with people who have an interest in the 
subject).

3.7 A copy of the Committees work programme is also attached.

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Statement of Wellbeing 28th June 2017 MTCBC Internet

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Page 107

http://mtcbcelecreg:9070/documents/s36089/Committee%20Report.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



BS Best Start to Life

4. BS 1: Children get the best start to life3

Children, have a positive early experience to ensure they are ready to learn, ready for 
school and have good life chances.

4.1. What happens to children in their earliest years is key to outcomes in adult life.  This is 
now supported by a wide range of research evidence from education, health, justice and 
economic experts.  This wellbeing objective is about giving our children the best start in 
life, to set them off on a path that leads to positive outcomes later in life.

4.2. Improving early years support is also crucial in tackling the root causes of adverse 
childhood experiences, which we know have a detrimental impact on future health and 
wellbeing.  We define early years as pre-birth to 7 years old.  This broad definition of early 
years recognises the importance of pregnancy in influencing outcomes and that the 
transition into primary school is a critical period in children’s lives.

4.3. Parents and carers have a crucial role in creating a home environment that nurtures early 
development and addresses barriers to learning that particularly affect less advantaged 
children and young people.  Parents in Merthyr Tydfil recognise they have a shared 
responsibility with schools to help their children develop skills, but a lack of confidence in 
their abilities can prevent some from doing so.

4.4. This wellbeing objective offers a holistic and sustainable approach to meeting the 
wellbeing needs of young children.  Such needs should be interpreted broadly and 
encompass play, learning, social relationships and emotional, physical and mental 
wellbeing.  While this approach is important for all children, it will particularly benefit 
children who face disadvantage or have a high risk of poor outcomes later in life.  The key 
components to support positive development in the early years include:

 Children having a nurturing and stimulating home environment
 Children having access to high quality pre-school and school education
 Helping mothers to have good maternal health
 Helping parents and carers with literacy and numeracy to enhance their ability to 

support their children’s learning

4.5. The risks of poorer outcomes for children and families are strongly correlated to 
underlying factors, mainly poverty and lack of parental skills and knowledge as well as 
education.  Wider stresses on parents and families such as substance misuse, debt, poor 
housing and lack of employment can also affect the quality of early years' experience and 
therefore impact on development.

3 This wellbeing objective recognises the right of all young children to high quality relationships, environments and 
services and will contribute strongly to promoting and upholding children’s rights as defined by the UN 
Convention on the Rights of the Child (UNCRC).

Page 109

jonesh1
Typewritten Text

jonesh1_1
Typewritten Text
                    APPENDIX I

jonesh1_2
Typewritten Text



BS Best Start to Life

4.6. The best start to life has to work alongside our other wellbeing objectives which address 
these underlying factors, particularly:

 Children and young people are equipped with the skills they need be successful 
learners and confident individuals

 Making skills work for Merthyr Tydfil: Developing the workforce of the future
 People have good physical and mental health

Page 110

jonesh1_3
Typewritten Text



BS Best Start to Life

5. BS 2: Children and young people are equipped with the skills they 
need to be successful learners and confident individuals

Children and young people, develop the knowledge, skills and attributes they will need to 
flourish in life, learning and work.

5.1. This objective is the next step on from the early years and continues the principle of 
valuing the wider benefits that learning can bring to the individual, to society and 
communities and to the economy.  It is part of a framework to show how all the constituent 
parts of our education and learning systems can contribute to giving Merthyr Tydfil a skills 
base that will improve economic, cultural, social and environmental wellbeing.

5.2. A young person’s education, from the early years through their compulsory education, lays 
the foundations of skills for life and work.  What they learn and the skills they acquire will 
help them improve their own lives.  Education has become one of the clearest indicators 
of life outcomes, such as employment, income and social status, and is a predictor of 
attitudes and wellbeing.

5.3. Wellbeing is strongly linked to attainment.  Research evidence shows that there is value 
for schools to promote health and wellbeing among pupils.  This can range from effective 
social and emotional competencies, the culture ethos and environment of a school and 
opportunities for pupils to be physically active.  Pupils with better health and wellbeing are 
more likely to be ready to learn and achieve better academically.

5.4. This wellbeing objective has at its core the promotion of equality of opportunity.  Equipping 
children and young people with the skills they need includes the following key 
components:

 Schools equipping pupils with high levels of literacy, numeracy and ICT skills
 Schools equipping pupils with social and emotional skills
 Schools supporting physical activity of pupils
 Youth services involving young people and enhancing their knowledge and skills

5.5. This objective has to work alongside our other wellbeing objectives which address the 
wider factors that influence family life:

 Children get the best start to life
 Making skills work for Merthyr Tydfil: Developing the workforce of the future
 People have good physical and mental health

Page 111



WL Working Life

6. WL 1: Making skills work for Merthyr Tydfil: Developing the workforce 
of the future

Highly skilled and qualified people are supported by a local economy that makes full and 
productive use of these skills; where our employers, demand, value and make best use of 
their workforce's skills.

6.1. "Too often, people's experiences of trying to get out of poverty tell a story of barriers and 
traps, rather than routes out"4.  This echoes the challenges experienced by unemployed 
people in Cwm Taf, who spoke of insufficient employment opportunities and numerous 
barriers to employment, particularly the lack of useful support or guidance.

6.2. A key challenge in Merthyr Tydfil is to help people develop their resources (skills, 
knowledge etc.) and tackle the barriers they experience so they can become the 
workforce of the future.  The focus of this wellbeing objective will be on the work we do 
within our communities to improve their skill level of the workforce.

6.3. Research shows that people who report no educational qualifications are more likely to be 
in relatively low income and people who are not in employment with no qualification are 
more likely to be economically inactive.  This is important because a comparatively high 
proportion of people in Merthyr Tydfil do not have any qualifications; we need to improve 
employability skills for those without jobs.  The key components to support the 
development of the future workforce include:

 People having employment opportunities
 People having the basic skills to access learning and training programmes
 People having the skills and qualifications that are suitable for employers' changing 

needs

6.4. The risk of poorer outcomes for people with low or no skills are strongly linked with the 
likelihood they are in lower paid work; experiencing in-work poverty and having lower 
resilience when dealing with issues or problems.  Evidence also shows poorer mental and 
physical health outcomes are often experienced by those with low or no skills.

6.5. Making skills work for Merthyr Tydfil has to work alongside our other wellbeing objectives 
which address these underlying factors, particularly:

 Children get the best start to life

4 JRF (2016) Monitoring Poverty and Social Exclusion 2016, Joseph Rowntree Foundation

Page 112



WL Working Life

7. WL 2: Developing the environment and infrastructure for businesses 
to flourish

Development that integrates regeneration with sustainable urban design improves the 
built environment and strengthens the natural environment.

7.1. The built and natural environment can have a strong effect on people's behaviour and 
opportunities and a significant impact on their wellbeing, particularly by where they live 
and work.  The focus of this wellbeing objective is the work we do in our communities to 
develop the environment and infrastructure that allows the growth of communities and a 
resilient local economy.

7.2. There is evidence to suggest that a well-managed urban environment and high quality 
local services are important to create conditions that are attractive to business investors, 
visitors and local residents alike.  Development that is sustainable can help build 
resilience and capacity in adapting to climate change, ensuring town centres and 
communities are attractive, viable and better protected.

7.3. This wellbeing objective offers a holistic and sustainable approach to environmental and 
infrastructure development needs in Merthyr Tydfil.  Such needs should be interpreted 
broadly to include renewable and low carbon energy, sustainable transport, diverse 
housing, education, retail, green infrastructure including biodiverse open spaces.  Access 
to high quality local services, amenities and safer communities can attract inward 
investment, increase visitor spend and help grow the local economy.  The key 
components to support the development of the environment and infrastructure include:

 People having access to flexible, integrated and sustainable transport options
 Parents and carers having flexible childcare options
 Suitable previously developed land that delivers a diverse supply of housing
 Promoting and supporting the use of renewable and low carbon energy
 Strengthening and diversifying the rural economy

7.4. Flooding and extreme weather events which damage assets and disrupt business 
operations pose the greatest risk to Welsh businesses now and in the future.  Evidence 
shows that high quality, sustainable and inclusive design can mitigate the predicted 
effects of climate change.

7.5. Developing the environment and infrastructure for businesses to flourish has to work 
alongside our other wellbeing objectives, particularly:

 Communities protect, enhance and promote our natural environment and countryside
 Communities protect, develop and promote our heritage and cultural assets

Page 113



EW Environmental Wellbeing

8. EW 1: Communities protect, enhance and promote our natural 
environment and countryside5

People, proud of the area’s outstanding landscape, regularly spend time outdoors in good 
quality, accessible greenspace.  Communities help improve their local areas, learning new 
skills, building strong social bonds and helping wildlife flourish.

8.1. The focus of this wellbeing objective is the work we do with our communities to protect, 
enhance and promote the natural environment and countryside.  This is because research 
shows that a healthy natural environment and countryside provides multiple benefits for 
people and wildlife from improved air, water and land quality, habitat protection and 
enhanced biodiversity to beneficial implications for physical and mental health.

8.2. How we act toward the natural environment and countryside will be a critical factor of a 
sustainable future in Merthyr Tydfil because the benefits of improving our natural 
environment will be felt across all of our wellbeing objectives.  We define the natural 
environment and countryside as all greenspace within the local authority boundary.  This 
broad definition of the natural environment and countryside recognises its importance of 
nature in both rural and urban environments.

8.3. This wellbeing objective offers a holistic and sustainable approach to meeting the 
environmental wellbeing needs in Merthyr Tydfil.  Those needs should be interpreted 
broadly to include quality greenspace and connectivity, habitat protection and biodiversity, 
resilient ecosystems, landscape character and pollution prevention.  While this approach 
is important for the environment as a whole, it will particularly benefit areas where there 
are key environmental issues or risks.  The key components for communities to protect, 
enhance and promote our natural environment and countryside include:

 Integration of landscape protection, management and planning
 Minimise environmental damage through prevention of pollution
 Maximise efficient use of materials and resources by means of the waste hierarchy
 Developing good quality and connected green infrastructure and open spaces

8.4. A degraded environment means our residents, communities and businesses will have a 
lower resilience to environmental risks.  As the environment is an underlying factor and 
influencer to many other wellbeing objectives, the risks presented by degraded 
environment also include a range of economic, social, health, community safety and 
cultural perspectives.

5 The Environment (Wales) Act 2016 requires the Council to seek to maintain and enhance biodiversity and 
promote the resilience of ecosystems taking into account diversity between and within ecosystems; the 
connections between and within ecosystems; the scale of ecosystems; the condition of ecosystems (including 
their structure and functioning) and the adaptability of ecosystems.

Page 114



EW Environmental Wellbeing

8.5. Communities protect, enhance and promote the natural environment and countryside has 
to work alongside our other wellbeing objectives to address these underlying factors, 
particularly:

 Developing the environment and infrastructure for businesses to flourish
 Communities protect, develop and promote our heritage and cultural assets
 People have good physical and mental health

Page 115



EW Environmental Wellbeing

9. EW 2: Communities protect, develop and promote our heritage and 
cultural assets

Celebrating success, valuing our heritage, culture and language will strengthen our 
identity for future generations.

9.1. The focus of this wellbeing objective is to use existing community assets to deliver wealth 
and health benefits for the people of Merthyr Tydfil.  There is a strong argument to 
suggest valuing our heritage, culture and language can bring improvements to the 
wellbeing of individuals and communities.  

9.2. The distinctiveness of Merthyr Tydfil has been shaped by our industrial past and the 
different communities who make Merthyr Tydfil their home.  How we work with these 
communities will be a critical factor in delivering on the vast potential that Merthyr Tydfil’s 
heritage and cultural assets offer us.

9.3. When local people talk about culture, it is often described as an opportunity for 
celebration.  Where this culture is celebrated varies from historic buildings brought back 
into use such as the Redhouse, Soar and Dowlais Engine House to modern venues such 
as the many rugby clubs, community centres and the refurbished Merthyr Tydfil football 
club.  The regeneration of the town centre has provided an additional asset for hosting 
cultural activities that brings people together including Merthyr Rising, Merthyr by the sea, 
Awesome Chilli Festival.

9.4. Cyfarthfa Park was regularly referred to as something good in the community during our 
engagement activities.  How people use the park varies from walking, foraging, fishing and 
landscape painting to attending events such as open air theatre, concerts and firework 
displays.  Whatever the use, the impact on people’s sense of wellbeing was commonly 
endorsed. 

9.5. Community groups that bring people together were also acknowledged as something 
good by those taking part in our engagement activities.  There was a sense that the 
tradition of community groups was enjoying resurgence as the focus on wellbeing 
develops.  Making social connections with other people is directly correlated with 
improvements in physical and mental wellbeing and can help combat the growth in social 
isolation and loneliness experienced by many different people living in the community.

9.6. Using our landscape and history to encourage people to be more physically active is a 
great way to improve wellbeing.  Cyfarthfa provides the backdrop for the annual Wales 
Valleys Walking Festival, which showcases Merthyr Tydfil’s history and natural beauty 
combined with walking.

9.7. In addition to health and wellbeing benefits our heritage and culture can help bolster the 
prosperity of the county borough by attracting visitors and tourists which supports inward 
investment, provides employment and offers opportunities to develop new skills.  In 

Page 116



EW Environmental Wellbeing

addition research shows that being able to speak, read and write Welsh can be an 
advantage for people seeking a job in Wales.

9.8. This wellbeing objective offers a holistic and sustainable approach to meeting the cultural 
wellbeing needs in Merthyr Tydfil.  Those needs should be interpreted broadly and 
encompass tourism, destination management, conservation and preservation of assets 
and language, local events and community participation.  The key components for 
communities to protect, develop and promote our heritage and culture include:

 Supporting existing community facilities and community led developments
 Supporting suitable tourism, leisure and recreation developments
 Promoting cultural and social activities within our communities
 Promoting the use of the Welsh language

9.9. Communities protect, develop and promote our heritage and cultural assets has to work 
alongside our other wellbeing objectives, particularly:

 Children get the best start to life
 Developing the environment and infrastructure for businesses to flourish
 Developing safer communities

Page 117



LW Living Well

10. LW 1: Developing safer communities

People, living in connected communities, feel safe where they live, work or spend their 
leisure time.

10.1. Feeling safe influences how people value their community, and is important to people’s 
quality of life, often making the difference between people wanting to live and stay in their 
neighbourhood or not.  There is evidence to suggest that building confidence and 
resilience in individuals and communities is an important step towards improving 
wellbeing.  Where healthier and happier people are more likely to positively contribute to 
their communities and society.

10.2. Community safety covers many aspects of life; however, there is no commonly agreed 
definition of community safety or clarity on the range of services and activities that 
contribute to its delivery.  We define safer communities from a social perspective as 
communities that are free from crime, victims of crime or those living in fear of crime.  This 
definition allows us to focus on the social aspects of safety that adversely affect the quality 
of life and wellbeing of people.

10.3. The focus of this wellbeing objective is the work we do to develop safer communities, 
including keeping our children and adults safe and free from harm, creating a place where 
people value their neighbours and community.  The key components for developing safer 
communities include:

 Safeguarding vulnerable children and adults who are at risk of harm
 Tackling the harm caused by the misuse of drugs and alcohol
 Tackling violence against women and girls
 Offender management (young people through to adults)
 Anti-Social Behaviour
 Community cohesion

10.4. Developing safer communities will need to work alongside our other wellbeing objectives, 
particularly:

 Children get the best start to life
 Communities protect, develop and promote our heritage and cultural assets
 People have good physical and mental wellbeing
 People live independently

10.5. In the wider environmental context of safe communities, our wellbeing objectives provide a 
focus on the elements needed for people and communities to develop and maintain a 
clean and biodiverse environment, well lit, free from graffiti, litter and fly-tipping:

 Developing the environment and infrastructure for business to flourish
 Communities protect, enhance and promote our natural environment and countryside

Page 118



LW Living Well

11. LW 2: People have good physical and mental health

People, adopting healthy behaviours earlier in their life, are heathier, feel good and 
function well.

11.1. There are many predictors of wellbeing and this objective focuses on two of them, 
physical health and mental health.  The link between physical health and mental health is 
incontrovertible.  Either one will have effects on the other.  Poor physical health can lead 
to poor mental health and the other way round.  Just as good physical health can improve 
our state of mind, a strong and healthy mind can greatly improve our ability to cope with 
physical ailments.

11.2. Research shows that levels of subjective wellbeing vary across the life course, dipping in 
the mid teenage years, at midlife, and again among the oldest of the old.  The perception 
of general health remains one of the strongest predictors of subjective wellbeing in adults 
and people who are physically active are more likely to have improved general and mental 
health.  

11.3. There is a growing body of evidence that indicates nature provides added value to the 
known benefits of physical activity.  Locally people have told us they have a strong 
association between the outdoors and wellbeing.  However, people also shared their 
concerns on the quality, accessibility and awareness of greenspace, in both urban areas 
and the wider countryside.

11.4. The focus of this wellbeing objective is to motivate and support people and communities 
to develop positive physical and mental health behaviours.  Adopting these behaviours 
early in life will help us to ensure long term and sustainable benefits for the physical and 
mental wellbeing needs of the people in Merthyr Tydfil. 

11.5. To ensure a holistic approach to meeting this objective, physical and mental health needs 
should be interpreted broadly and encompass the family and neighbourhood, school and 
teenage years, having a good job, home and positive social relationships.  The key 
components for people have good physical and mental wellbeing include:

 Promoting healthy behaviours from a young age
 Tackling adverse childhood experiences
 Increasing levels of physical activity

11.6. People have good physical and mental health has to work alongside all other wellbeing 
objectives.

Page 119



LW Living Well

12. LW 3: People live independently6

People, empowered to live independently within their communities, have the appropriate 
support, advice and assistance to meet their personal needs, live safely and access 
opportunities available to them.

12.1. The focus of this objective is to help people with particular support needs to live 
independent and well lives in their communities for longer.  The type of support required to 
promote greater independence and wellbeing will differ for diverse groups in the 
community.  

12.2. For disabled people (of all ages) this objective is about removing the barriers that prevent 
the full participation in all aspects of society and promoting the rights and full inclusion of 
disabled people.  Research evidence from the Office of Disability Issues suggests that 
independent living provides significantly more benefits at an individual level than 
conventional forms of service provision.  At service delivery level, benefits include the 
reduced costs in the delivery of independent support mechanisms.

12.3. For older people this objective is about addressing the care and support needs required to 
remain in their own homes, and developing local capacity within communities so people 
can connect with others and become more involved in community and public life.  There is 
evidence that older people living locally wish to remain living in their homes as long as 
possible.  Alongside tangible benefits in promoting wellbeing linked to choice and control 
and other aspects of maximising independent living for older people, there is also a 
lessening reliance on institutional forms of service provision leading to reduced costs.

12.4. Our engagement with people locally which has identified key factors to support people to 
live independently include:

 Clearly and accessibly communicate sources of advice, assistance and support
 Gather the views of service users to inform planning and service delivery
 Services that provide people with the ability to live in their own home
 Better access to quality services and facilities to support a fairer society for people with 

protected characteristics

12.5. Ensuring that people can live independent lives for longer requires wider societal changes 
to create the necessary conditions to ensure the success of this objective.  To create 
these changes, people to live independently has to work alongside our other wellbeing 
objectives, particularly:

 Children get the best start to life
 Developing the environment and infrastructure for business to flourish
 Communities protect, develop and promote our heritage and cultural assets

6 This wellbeing objective contributes to the UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities (UNCRPD), 
which includes Article 19: the right to independent living.

Page 120



LW Living Well

 Developing safer communities

12.6. In the wider context of people living independent lives our other wellbeing objectives focus 
on the elements needed for people and communities to become more self-sufficient 
particularly:

 Children and young people are equipped with the skills they need to be successful 
learners and confident individuals

 Making skills work for Merthyr Tydfil: Developing the workforce of the future

Page 121



This page is intentionally left blank



Social Services Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme Descriptors 2017/18

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change)

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area 
and the outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements.

Committee
Date / Timing Overarching Item Officer & Cabinet 

Member
Scrutiny Focus 

Welsh Community 
Care Information 
System (WCCIS)

Lisa Curtis Jones / Anne 
Powell

Scrutiny & Challenge:-  A new computer system is being 
introduced in Wales to help health and social care 
professionals work together to provide care closer to people’s 
homes. It gives community nurses, mental health teams, social 
workers and therapists the digital tools they need to work 
better together. The committee to receive an update on the 
system and how it is being imbedded at MTCBC.

Children’s Services 
Strategy Update

Annabelle Lloyd Scrutiny & Challenge:-  The Head of Children’s Services will 
provide an update on the strategies applicable to Children’s 
Social Services

CSSIW Annual Letter Lisa Curtis Jones Scrutiny & Challenge:-  To advise members of CSSIW Annual 
letter.  The CSSIW undertake an annual evaluation and review 
of Local Authority social services and provide overall 
judgements on key areas of progress and areas for 
improvement.

25th July 2017

Develop the Annual 
Scrutiny Work 

Programme

Full Committee The Committee to develop work programme for 2017/18.

19th September 2017

Wellbeing Objective
Living Well (LW1)

Item withdrawn

Cllr David Hughes, Lisa 
Curtis Jones and 

appropriate Officers

Scrutiny & Challenge:- The Scrutiny Committee will receive a 
report on a wellbeing objective.  The scrutiny report will 
outline the context, current position and provide the most up 
to date performance and project information to enable the 
Scrutiny Committee to discuss and challenge on the steps 
taken to meet our wellbeing objectives.

P
age 123



Social Services Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme Descriptors 2017/18

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change)

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area 
and the outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements.

Annual Report
(ACRF)

LCJ, AL, MA, LM Scrutiny & Challenge:-  Annual Council Reporting Framework. 
The Director of Social Services annual statutory report to 
Welsh Government

Adult Services Strategy 
Update

(item withdrawn)

Mark Anderton Scrutiny & Challenge:-  The Head of Adult Services will provide 
an update on the strategies applicable to Children’s Social 
Services

Merthyr Tydfil Youth 
Offending Team (YOT)

LCJ, AL, Jason O’Brien 
(RCTCBC)

Scrutiny & Challenge:-  To discuss the CSSIW Inspection 
report.  The YOT is a multi-agency team which is made up of 
members of the Police, Probation, Health, Education, 
Substance Misuse and Social Services, as well as others specific 
to the team. The YOT deals with young people between the 
ages of 10 and 18 who are involved in the criminal justice 
system, and those who are just on the periphery of becoming 
involved in the system.

Wellbeing Objective
Living Well (LW2)

Cllr David Hughes, Lisa 
Curtis Jones and 

appropriate Officers

Scrutiny & Challenge:- The Scrutiny Committee will receive a 
report on a wellbeing objective.  The scrutiny report will 
outline the context, current position and provide the most up 
to date performance and project information to enable the 
Scrutiny Committee to discuss and challenge on the steps 
taken to meet our wellbeing objectives.

31st October 2017
Moved to 7th 
November Wellbeing Objective

Living Well (LW1)
Cllr David Hughes, Lisa 

Curtis Jones and 
appropriate Officers

Scrutiny & Challenge:- The Scrutiny Committee will receive a 
report on a wellbeing objective.  The scrutiny report will 
outline the context, current position and provide the most up 
to date performance and project information to enable the 
Scrutiny Committee to discuss and challenge on the steps 
taken to meet our wellbeing objectives.

P
age 124



Social Services Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme Descriptors 2017/18

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change)

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area 
and the outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements.

Looked After Children 
Strategy Update

Annabel Lloyd/ Cllr David 
Hughes

Monitoring, Scrutiny & Challenge: A quarterly update on 
progress implementing the LAC strategy and the associated 
risks, issues and challenges. The strategy is seeking a reduction 
in the number of LAC and CPR over the next few years

CTSAB/CTSCB Annual 
Reports 

Nicola Kingham and 
officers and  Cllr David 
Hughes

Scrutiny & Challenge:-   These separate reports summarises 
the work undertaken by the CTSCB and the CTSAB to achieve 
its objectives during the year. They also summarise the areas 
of development identified.

Community Zone Lisa Curtis Jones / Chris 
Hole

Scrutiny & Challenge:-   Community Zones is a place based 
approach focussing support to improve outcomes for residents 
with the greatest challenges.  The Committee requires an 
update i.e. how the zones are progressing; what challenges are 
being faced; and what performance indicators have been 
developed. 

Wellbeing Objective
Living Well (LW3)

Cllr David Hughes, Lisa 
Curtis Jones and 
appropriate Officers

Scrutiny & Challenge:-
The Scrutiny Committee will receive a report on a wellbeing 
objective.  The scrutiny report will outline the context, current 
position and provide the most up to date performance and 
project information to enable the Scrutiny Committee to 
discuss and challenge on the steps taken to meet our 
wellbeing objectives.12th December 2017

Regional Adoption 
Annual Report

AL/ Angela Harris & Rachel 
Evans (Vale of Glamorgan

Monitoring & Scrutiny: An update  and some early 
performance information  in relation to our regional adoption 
collaborative 

P
age 125



Social Services Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme Descriptors 2017/18

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change)

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area 
and the outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements.

Communities First Lisa Curtis Jones Scrutiny & Challenge: - Communities First is a community 
focussed tackling poverty programme, which is being phased 
out by March 2018. An update is required on outstanding 
projects and how the Authority and Partners are winding up 
the programme.

Social Services 
Caseloads (Children’s 

Services)

Annabelle Lloyd Scrutiny & Challenge: - The Committee has asked the Head of 
Children’s Services for a report about Social Worker caseloads.

NEETS Strategy 2018 -
2021

(report in 12/12 file)

Chris Hole Scrutiny & Challenge: To Inform the Scrutiny Committee of the 
Not in Education, Employment or Training Strategy (2018-21) 
and the progress that has been made against this agenda in 
line with the previous strategy.  The NEETS Strategy identifies 
some critical areas to be progressed if the authority is to 
continue its progress

Wellbeing Objective
Living Well (LW1)

Cllr David Hughes, Lisa 
Curtis Jones and 

appropriate Officers

Scrutiny & Challenge:-The Scrutiny Committee will receive a 
report on a wellbeing objective.  The scrutiny report will 
outline the context, current position and provide the most up 
to date performance and project information to enable the 
Scrutiny Committee to discuss and challenge on the steps 
taken to meet our wellbeing objectives.

Cwm Taff Integrated 
Family Support Team 

Annual report.

AL/  Goulding, Jay (RCT) Scrutiny & Challenge:- An Annual Report on progress within 
the Cwm Taf IFST and the wider implementation.

23rd January 2018

Adult Services Strategy 
Update

(Moved from 19th 
September)

Mark Anderton Scrutiny & Challenge:-  The Head of Adult Services will provide 
an update on the strategies applicable to Children’s Social 
Services

P
age 126



Social Services Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme Descriptors 2017/18

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change)

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area 
and the outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements.

Wellbeing Objective
Living Well (LW2)

Cllr David Hughes, Lisa 
Curtis Jones and 

appropriate Officers

Scrutiny & Challenge:- The Scrutiny Committee will receive a 
report on a wellbeing objective.  The scrutiny report will 
outline the context, current position and provide the most up 
to date performance and project information to enable the 
Scrutiny Committee to discuss and challenge on the steps 
taken to meet our wellbeing objectives.27th February 2018

Budget update Stacey Evans/LCJ/Cllr 
Hughes

Scrutiny & Challenge: - Update on budget and looking at areas 
that may overspend.

Wellbeing Objective
Living Well (LW3)

Cllr David Hughes, Lisa 
Curtis Jones and 

appropriate Officers

Scrutiny & Challenge:- The Scrutiny Committee will receive a 
report on a wellbeing objective.  The scrutiny report will 
outline the context, current position and provide the most up 
to date performance and project information to enable the 
Scrutiny Committee to discuss and challenge on the steps 
taken to meet our wellbeing objectives.

10th April 2018
CTSAB/CTSCB Annual 

Plans 
Nicola Kingham Scrutiny & Challenge:-  These separate reports summarises 

the work undertaken by the CTSCB and the CTSAB to achieve 
its objectives. They also summarise the areas of development 
identified.

Merthyr Tydfil Youth 
Offending Team (YOT)

LCJ, AL, Jason O’Brien 
(RCTCBC)

Monitoring, Scrutiny & Challenge:-  This item was discussed at 
the 19th September 2017 meeting. To discuss the CSSIW 
Inspection report action plan.  The Committee requires a 
report providing details of the work done to address the action 
plan as shown to the Committee at the 19th September 
meeting. To monitor progress. 

The YOT is a multi-agency team which is made up of members 
of the Police, Probation, Health, Education, Substance Misuse 

P
age 127



Social Services Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme Descriptors 2017/18

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change)

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area 
and the outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements.

and Social Services, as well as others specific to the team. The 
YOT deals with young people between the ages of 10 and 18 
who are involved in the criminal justice system, and those who 
are just on the periphery of becoming involved in the system.

Refugee Settlement in 
Merthyr Tydfil

SP/LCJ
To be confirmed

Syrian refugee settlement programme. The Committee has 
learned of a family that had settled in Merthyr Tydfil as part of 
the programme but due to issues with the property that was 
allocated to them (private rented), the family eventually left 
Merthyr Tydfil to resettle in London. The committee wish to 
set up a T&F Group to review matters to see what lessons 
were learned and would the Authority take the same approach 
in future. (see email SP 21/4/17)

For consideration on 
work programme - To 
be confirmed

Recommendations 
made by external 
regulators (WAO, 

CSSIW, ESTYN, WG 
Commissioners etc.). 

Review of
Corporate
Safeguarding 
Arrangements in
Welsh Councils
(July 2015)
and included in MTCBC 
Annual Improvement 
report 2015/16 (July 2016)

Scrutiny, Challenge and Monitor: R6 Improve accountability 
for corporate safeguarding by regularly reporting safeguarding 
issues and assurances to scrutiny committee(s) against a 
balanced and council-wide set of performance information 
covering: • benchmarking and comparisons with others; • 
conclusions of internal and external audit/inspection reviews; 
• service-based performance data; • key personnel data such 
as safeguarding training, and DBS recruitment checks; and • 
the performance of contractors and commissioned services on 
compliance with council safeguarding responsibilities.

P
age 128

https://www.wao.gov.uk/system/files/publications/365A2015_safeguarding_english_final.pdf
https://www.wao.gov.uk/system/files/publications/365A2015_safeguarding_english_final.pdf
https://www.wao.gov.uk/system/files/publications/365A2015_safeguarding_english_final.pdf
https://www.wao.gov.uk/system/files/publications/365A2015_safeguarding_english_final.pdf
https://www.wao.gov.uk/system/files/publications/365A2015_safeguarding_english_final.pdf


Social Services Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme Descriptors 2017/18

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change)

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area 
and the outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements.

Community Zone Chris Hole Scrutiny, Challenge and Monitor: A Children’s Zone is a place 
based approach, bringing together different organisations to 
improve outcomes for children and young people. The aim is 
that through a shared strategic vision, long-term sustainable 
reductions are achieved in the inequalities experienced by 
children in disadvantaged communities when compared to 
those in more socially advantaged areas. 

P
age 129



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Living Well, Developing Safer Communities (Wellbeing Objective LW1)
	4 Living Well, People have good physical and mental health (Wellbeing Objective LW2)
	5 Annual Report 2016/17 for the Cwm Taf Safeguarding Board
	LCJ - Annual Report 2016-17 for the Cwm Taf Safeguarding Board
	To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen
	Annual Report 2016/17 for the Cwm Taf Safeguarding Board
	1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT
	2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that
	3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND
	4.0 ANNUAL REPORT 2016 / 2017


	LCJ - Annual Report 2016-17 for the Cwm Taf Safeguarding Board - Background Paper
	Foreword - Co-Chairs of the Cwm Taf Safeguarding Board
	What does Safeguarding in Cwm Taf look like?
	Safeguarding Adults in Cwm Taf
	Safeguarding Children in Cwm Taf
	The Cwm Taf Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH)
	Joint Safeguarding Functions
	Managing Our Resources in 2016/17
	Priorities for 2017/18
	Are You Concerned About Someone?
	Glossary of Terms


	6 Pilot Community Zone - Update
	10 Forward Work Programme
	APPENDIX I Statement of Wellbeing July 2017
	5 Social Services




